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ABSTRACT 

This is a biography of Captain Philip Van Horn Weems; 

outstanding athlete; twenty-six years service in the u. s. 

Navy; inventor, author, publinher, teacher, and retailer 

of equipment in marine and air navigation. Founder of the 

Weems System of Navigation, h o is associated more closely 

t han any other individual with the promotion of celestial 

navigation for aircraft. 

Born on a farm in Montgomery County, Tennessee in 

1889, orphaned at four t een, he worked on the family farm 

and attended local schools with his four brothers. Upon 

graduation from Annapolis in 1912, he received the sword 

for excellence in athletics after earning letters in foo t ­

ball, crew, and wrestling. A champion wrestler at the 

Academy and in amateur competition, he was a member of the 

1920 u. s. Olympic Wrestling Team. 

He was retired from the u. s. Navy in 1933 after 

twenty-one years of continuoun service. Approximately 

seven years before being retired, he developed a system of 

navigation that did not require any mathematical calcula­

lations by the observer. This "Weems System of Navigation" 

thrust him into the navigational limelight of the world in 

the late twenties when he worked with Colonel C. A. 



Lindbergh, Wiley Post, Harold Gatty, Ed Link and many other 

navigators and aviators. The techniques and equipment 

de veloped by his company became standard equipment for 

navig ators and aviators in World War II. 

Captain Weems was an extrovert and enjoyed helping 

his f ellowman. He was a beliover in Chris t ian ethics and 

was active in civic and social even t s. He married Margaret 

Thackray in 1915, who becwne a business partne r, a com­

panion, and the mother of their three children, two sons 

a n d ono daught er. Bo t h sons were killed while on active 

du t y, one during World War II and the surviving son in 1951 

wh ile assigned as a test pilo t in the u. s . Navy. 

Captain Weems received a number of awards, U. s ., Fre nch , 

and British, mostly in the field of navigation. Hi s work 

in all fields of the latter has earned him the title of 

"Gran d Ole Man of Navigation." 
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INTRODUCTION 

This is a biography of Captain Philip Van Horn Weems , 

wo r ld famous in the field of navigation. Born on a farm 

in Montg omery County, Tennessee, in 1889 , he was orphaned 

at the age of fourteen. Van and his four brothers worke d 

on the f amily fa rm and attended a one-room country school 

name d Walnu t Grove. After an appointmen t to the u. s . 

Naval Academy by Se nato r Robe r t L. Taylor, Van prepared 

a t Branham and Hughes Preparatory S ch ool at Spring Hill, 

Tennessee, and at the We rntz Preparatory School, Annapoli s , 

Maryland. 

Van f irs t came into prominence when he distinguished 

himself as an athlete. At the Academy he won athletic 

l e tters in football, crew and wrestling . He made several 

All-Ameri c an football teams, won the wrestling champion ship 

t wice , and was given the sword f or excellence in athletic s . 

Af te r graduation in 1912 , tying Admiral Richard Byrd fo r 

cla s s standing, he continued in athletics. In 1920 he was 

a member of the U. s. Olympic Wrestling team at Antwerp, 

Belgium. He won the South Atlantic Wrestling Championship 

in 1919, 1920 and in 1925. 

Captain Weems' naval career spanned fifty years wi t h 

twenty-six years of active dut y service that include d both 



World Wars, and one year of servi·ce t th a e age of seventy-

two. For the first twenty-one years, Van followed the 

g e neral pattern of duties, serving in various grades on 

Navy ships an d stations. During the latter part of thi s 

period, Van became interested in the navigation of ships 

a nc aircraft and developed a system of navigation that did 

no t require any ma t hematical calculations by the observer. 

Wi t h the "Weems System of Navigation, 11 the navigato r in 

only seconds could accu1~ately determine his position by 

apply ing his observations to printed curves of celestial 

p ositions of stars. 

This system of navigation allowed Van t o bui l d a 

p r ofitable business in the fi e ld of navigation that 

included inventing, writing , publishing , teaching, and 

selling . As a pioneer in celestial navigation, he taught 

Colonel Charles A. Lindbergh, Mr. Lincoln Ellsworth, and 

many other early long distance aviators. He worked wi th 

pioneer navigators, Mr. Harold Gatty and Mr. Ed Link, and 

others to develop navigat ional equipment. 

Captain Weems was an extrovert who enjoyed meeting 

and helping people. His interest in life varied from chess 

as a child to skin diving at the age of seventy. Also, he 

was interested in genealogy, especially helping to trace 

his family to the first Weems to arrive in America in 1715. 

Van married Margaret Thackray in 1915. She became a 

vi 



bu s i ness part ne r , a companion, an d t he mo t her of the ir 

thre e childre n, two s on s and one daughter. Bo t h s on s 

we re killed while on a c t ive duty, one during World War II 

and the s urviving son in 1951 while assigned the dut y o f 

t es t p ilo t b y t h e U. s . Navy. 

Captain We ems has rece ive d a l a rge number of awards , 

most of wh ich were related to navig a t ion. He worke d in 

al l f our fi e l ds o f navigation --sea, air, space and inne r 

space . Inner space i s t he term u sed for u nde rwa t er 

explorat ion. Thus Cap t a in P. V. H. We ems , known as 

"Mammy 1
' Ue ems b y hi s Annap ol is clas smate s , has earned the 

t itl e of 11 Gran d Olo Man o f Navigat ion. " 

vii 
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CHILDHOOD IN TURBINE, TENNE SSEE 

On May 6 , 1 903 ,
1 

a young man named Philip Van Horn 

Weems struggled uns uccessfully to fight back the flow of 

tears. At fourteen he looked and acted like a grown man. 

As he stood on the porch looki ng down toward Barton's 

Creek , the tears ob scured his vision as he started to 

think of how life woul d be without hi s Mother's guiding 

hand. He tried to control hi s weepi ng wi th self assurance 

t hat even grown men cry when t heir Mother is taken away 

a nd they are left to face the world as an orphan. 

Ph ilip Van Horn, or just Van to close friends, was 

no t completely alone, for livi ng wi th Van in the Weems 

country home were four bro the rs and one sister. "Sister 

Violetta "
2 

was the oldest at twenty . She had completed 

her education at Cloverdale Seminary and had started 

accepti ng callers and no longer wanted to rough house with 

her y ounger brothers. Her five brothers ware born two years 

apart. Her oldest brother, Tom Nat,3 was eighteen and 

1All dat es and ages computed from dates taken from 
biographical data in the P. V. H. Weems ~i~e, Tennessee 
S tate Library and Archives , Manuscript Division. 

2Mrs. Violetta Chapman Weems Slayden, Waverly, 
Tennessee, B. December 21, 1883. 

3Trlomas Nathaniel Weems, farmer, B. October 19, 1885 , 
D. February 13, 1970. 
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quie ter than t he younger boys . Fo r t he past seven years , 

since Dad,4 Jo s eph Burch Weems, had d passe away, p resumably 

from pneumonia caus ed by i nhaling dust from bailing hay , it 

was Tom who had bee n the man of the house. Mo the r had 

made the majo r de cisions, but Tom had to insu re t hat t he 

boys comple ted their tasks in the fields and their assigned 

chores around t he house. 

J oe B. 5 was t wo years behind Tom Nat at sixteen. He 

enjoye d playing with Van, who was only fourteen but much 

larger and stronger than most boys at the age of fourteen. 

George Hatton , Hatton,6 was next and John,7 the baby, at 

tan ye a r s of age. 

Late in t he a.i' ternoon on May 6, 1903, as the innnediate 

memb e r s of the family started to gather to pay their 

respe c ts, t he fi ve brothers and Sister Violetta met quietly 

and agree d to s t ay together on the farm if p ossible . Some 

of t he rala t i ve s had already inquired about "taking in" t he 

children . They d id no t k now what would h appe n , but they 

ha d f a ith in each other and in Grandf ather Rye, 8 fa t her 

4Joseph Burch Weems , Civil war Veteran, B. August 3, 
1845, D. Decembe r 2, 1896. 

5Joseph Bur ch Weems, Jr. , lawye r , later judge in Di ck­
s on Count y, Tenne ssee, B. July 2 , 1887, D. April 29, 1950. 

t>i3rigadier General Geor g e Hatton Weems, U. s . Army, 
B. September 27, 1891, D. Fe bruary 25, 1957. 

7John Calvi n Weems, farmer, B. Apr i l 18, 1893. 

8nr. Thomas Hartwell Rye, B. August 3, 1830, D. May 24, 
1903. 



-r:- "B . " th . 0
~ essie, eir Mother, May Elizabeth Rye Weems . Be fore 

the mon th woul d end their seventy-three year old Grand­

parent would also pass away. He would barely have time to 

name Cousin Loch
9 

as guardian. Cousin Loch, the son of 

Elizabeth Weems Cook, had recently established himself as 

3 

a lawyer in Charlotte, Te nnessee. He had received 

rinancial assistance and parental guidance from Van's father 

while a ttending law school, arter his one-armed Civil War 

veteran rather had died. Until Cousin Loch assumed the 

duties as guardian, he had been unable to repay this deb t 

or gratitude. 

Van had difficulty in getting to sleep the night after 

his Mother's death. He could still hear her whispering on 

her death bed, "I love my boys." Van prayed as his mother 

had taught him to pray. These four words, respect for God, 

and love for his sister and brothers would remain with Van 

the rest of his life. Of these four treasures, his Mother's 

massage , "I love my boys" would be recalled time and again 

10 in difficult and trying times. 

Van could not understand why something could not have 

been done to save his Mother's life. She appeared healthy 

bu t could not breathe. Grandfather Rye said she had a 

9william Loch Cook, 9th District Judge 1908, a~pointed 
Justice of Supreme Court by Governor Austin Peay April 12, 
1923, reelected 1926, 1934. 

lOp. v. H. Weems, 1911 Diary, Tennessee State Library, 
Ibid. 
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goiter in her throat and nothing could be done. 
She and 

Van also had the "slow fever. 1111 Van had lost about 

thirty pounds but had stopped having chills and fever.1 2 

Within a few years Van learned that removal of a throat 

goi tar was a simple operation an d t hat "slow fever " could 

have been malaria caused by the mosqu itos that swarmed over 

t he fish pond near the h ouse . The p ond h ad bee n dug to 

provide the f amily with a year- round supply o f f resh f i sh . 

Soma of the talkat i ve ne ighbo r women c l a imed t hat Bessie 

had "wore herself out " tryi ng t o r a ise tho se six children 

t he last seven years by herself . 

Life was difficult f or the boys on the farm until 

Cousin Loch hired Mrs. Nann ie Woodward as hous e keeper . Mrs . 

Nannie ' s husband had died and le f t her with a young daughte r 

t o raise. Cous in Loch paid her a s ala ry and allowed her to 

r aise turkeys and keep the "egg mone y" a s extra. The boys 

loved her and years after her dea t h Dickson County Judge 

Joe B. Weems wrote: 

There is one member of our "family" of whom, I fear, 
the second generation know too little. She is your 
"God Sent" Grandmo t her, Hrs. Nannie Woodward •. When 
Mrs Nannie came to live with us she brought W'.lth 

• . tt "Ed II t her a little stuttering d aughter, E a o us, 
who vary shortly became a fine sister, with plenty 

---------
llunknown disease, probably typhoid or malaria. 

12Taped interview of Captain P. V. H. Weems on March 
25, 1969, by Mr. John T. Mason, Naval Institute, Annapoli s , 
Maryland. 



of.fight back, and who has remained a fine sister to 
this day. Mrs. Nannie became a Mo t h 0 r in every 
sense, except the natural one. Her administration 
with us was through those years while we were in our 
teens! that period of sowing wild oats; that part of 
our lives when mischief was our chief thought. We 
were bad ~n~ugh and wild enough to cause a lady of 
Mrs. Nannies age much e xasperation and loss of 
temper, but she kept hers . 

She lived with us and shared with u s our 
pleasures, woes, and hardship s until we began to 
marry off, and until Etta was married to one of our 
good friends and neighbors, Gri gsby Tally , when sh e 
moved with them to their home. 

Her coming to us at that time was a God-send to 
us. During a l l t h e years she wa s wi t h us , there 
was never a cross o r discourteous word between us. 
Our mean t ricks were ne ve r with Mrs. Nannie . 

Whatever we d i d, o r wha t ever might have been 
reported to her of our guilt , she had only one 
answer: "They are mighty g oo d boys" a nd tha t ended 
it.13 

s 

Mrs. Nannie allowed the boys a f r ee life. Su rprisingl y 

t hey picked up very few bad h ab its . Only Hat t on chewed 

t obacco and smoked. The boy s we re allowed t o spe nd nights 

away from home, to hunt and fish, and t o rough house wi th 

each other as long as they did no t hu rt one another. 

A typical fight among the brothers resulted from 

riding the oxen. They were playing around the stock barn 

when they decided to take turns riding the oxen that were 

in the barn. Van was riding around when one of the brothers 

blew in the ox's ear, and it took off for Barton's Creek, 

- -------
13Letter from Joe B. Weems printed in Weemsana, 

family newspaper, dated April, 1944, Vol. II, Number 
2

, 

P• l. 



t hrowing Van off in the creek, bruising h1.·o 
~ nose and eye. 

This started a rough tumble fight among the brothers.l~. 

Another typical boyhood f i ght occurred between Van 

and his Cousin Sam Weems, son of William Lock Weems or 

Uncle Buck. Sam and Van were returning from school one 

afternoon in the early fall. At the f oo tbridge where Van 

turned off to walk home was a grove of walnut trees. van 

and Sam had been fussing all the way home from school. 

Whe n Van was on the bank leading to the bridge he said, 

11 Sam, I dare you to hit me." 

"You do?" asked Sam. 

"Yea, 11 Van replied. 

Sam, who could really throw, picked up a large green 

walnut and hit Van right between the eyes, knocking him 

flat on the g round. Sam became alarmed that he might have 

injured Van and rushed up to where Van was lying and said, 

"I t old you not to dare me to do anything." The green 

walnut did not hurt Van, but it did leave an orange walnut 

stain on his face that took days to wear off. Everything 

was f un to Van and his brothers.1 5 
Mrs. Nannie was a good cook. With five tee nage boys , 

she and her wood stove worked overtime to keep enough food 

---------
14Taped interview with Chap Weems, son of Uncle Buck, 

March 31, 1973, Clarksville, Tennessee, 73 years old, with 
a clear memory. 

6 
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on the table. She would prepare biscui t s, eggs, and bacon 

every morning for breakfast. There was always honey from 

the family beehives and sorghum syrup on t he table for 

sweets. Turnips and sweet pot atoe s from t he garden were 

"banked" in straw and dirt for the winter months. Hog s 

were killed each fall, and the me at was cured wi t h smoke 

f rom smoldering hick ory wood chips in t he family smoke house . 

Cousin Loch authorize d a beef to be kil led on special 

o c casions. 'Iba bee f t h at could not be use d immediately 

wa s shared with aunts and uncles or dried in small strips 

for future use. Hunting small game provided a variety of 

meat s for the family table. Each fal l the Cu nningham 

cousins from Clarksville and t h e t wo Gennett boys from 

Nashville joined Van and his b ro t hers f or a week of quail 

shooting.16 

Most of the flour and corn meal u s ed on t he f a rm was 

p rocessed by Mr. Johnny Batson a t his mill on Ba rton I s 

Creek . The wheat and corn was grown on the farm and taken 

to the mill on horseback with a sack on each side of the 

animal for balance, with one of the younger brothers leading 

the horse to the mill. Mr. Batson took part of the meal or 

flour as payment or grin 1. . • f · d·ng The boys saw very li ttle 

cash money while they were on the farm, but they did not 

16Taped interview with Mrs. Violetta Slayden, age 90, 
· she has a keen on December 13, 1972, Waverly, Tennessee, 

mind and clear memory. 



con sider themse l ves as bei ng p oor or downtrodden. 

l i ved a ne a r-su b s istence li fe , s imilar to all o t her 
They 

f amilies i n the communi ty . Th 1 
eon y pla nted cash crop was 

t obacco . 

At t he mi l l a l a rge tur b i ne was turned by a water 

whee l t o g rind the g r ain . Lo cated in the mil l h ouse was 

a small pos t office, 'furbine , Te nnessee, named f o r the 

t u r bine u s ed i n the mi l l . Van ' s h ome of record was listed 

as Turbine, Tennessee , years afte r the post off ice h ad been 

mo ved to Souths ide , Te nnessee. 1 7 

8 

The r e h a ve bee n disagreements as to the county of 

Van ' s birth. Van t ells the sto ry, "Our farm was on the 

border of all thr e e c oun ties, Mo ntgomery, Cheatham, and 

Dickson, with the cor ner p o st in o ne of our fields we called 

the "Gennett bo ttom. 11 Th e coun t ry home where Van was born 

is s till occup ie d by his b rother J ohn. The house is north 

of Barton ' s Creek in Mo ntgomery County a n d part o f his 

fa ther ' s inheritance o f e i gh t hundred acre s of land, s i x 

18 hun d r ed doll ars c ash, and a fe ather bed . 

The b oys always welcomed v i si ts f rom their uncles and 

aun t s . Whe n Aun t Agnes , Mrs . Agn es Rye Bax ter, stopped by , 

she u s u ally wou l d b ring a cake o r a pie and tell her 

17Who's who in Ame r ica, Marquis Publ ish i ng Company, 
Chicag o, Illino i s , Vol. 33 (1964-1965 ), P • 218 . 

18Ed Hu ddleston, Nashville Banner, Decembe r 11 , 1965. 



favori te story o f how Bessie's b oys tricked h er . Whe n the 

boys were small t o ts , she an d Aun t Hariet , Mrs . Hariet Rye 

Harpe r, were visiting t h e ir si s ter Bessie . Aun t Agnes 

glan c ed out t h e ki t chen wind ow t oward t he smokehouse an d 

noticed that the boy s h a d g a the r ed five large barrel s full 

9 

of black walnuts . She s tar t e d b ragging on h ow smart Bessie ' s 

boys we r e to g a t her t he black walnuts for the approaching 

wi n te r. The three s i sters became excited at the b oys ' 

work and wa lke d out t o the smokehouse for a clo ser view. 

Upon clo se inspection they found that the boys had turned 

f ive empty flour a nd sugar barrel s up - s i de-down and placed 

a fe w walnuts on the top o f the barrels to mak e them appear 

f ull. The b oy s h a d gath e r ed less that a bucke t full of 

nuts . The b oys were r ol l i ng on the ground behind the 

smokehouse l aughi ng a t the trick they had pulled on Aun t 

Agne s . 19 

Au nt Violetta, Mrs . Viole t ta Wee ms Gennett , had met 

h e r h u s b and, a wholesale groce r in Nashville, 20 while 

spe ndi ng the swnmer at the Bon Aqu a Springs Hotel and resort 

in Hickma n County . The h o t e l was managed by her father, 

Will i am Loch Weems I V, afte r he had "lost" his plantation 

becau s e of deb t s accumula t e d du ring the Civil War . Ea ch 

l9Taped intervie w with Mr s . Violetta Slayden, Ibid. 

20will i am Waller, Nashvi lle in the 1890's, Vand8 rbilt 
Press, 1970, p . 180. 
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s UIT1.me r s h e would b r i ng h er two sons, And r e w and Nat , t o 

Bart on ' s Cre ek fo r a s umme r vacation a nd allow them t o 

"he l p out " o n t h e farm . 

Va n and his brothers would mak e Au n t Violetta re l ate 

eve r y de tai l o f he r t rip start in~ wi th r i d ing the mule 

d rawn st r eetc ar t o t h e wharf . She wou ld des c ri be the whi t e 

s t e amboats wi t h f a n cy g r i llwork, how the boat backed ou ~ 

i n ~o tho r i v e ~ and upstre am for a bou t h ulf a mil e before 

cha rgi nG d own ri vor , blowinG :J t eam puffs al t e r nate l y f r or.1 

tho t wi n stacl:3 . The fo r ty mi l e t rip from Nashville t o 

Ilac;<n1ood Landi ng wa s stre tched in t o a t we lve h our r ide 

be cause of f requ e n t stops to load an d unloa d passengers a nd 

f reie;h t . The first stop out o f Nashvill e woul d be Harpe t h 

Shoal s , the se cond a nd t he mo st important would b e Ashl and 

Ci t y , Te nnessee . 

Aun t Vi oletta a nd her son s would retire af t e r supper 

t o one o f t ho staterooms wi t h i nstructions to t he steward 

to a wake n them a t t hree i n t h o morning whe n they arrived 

at Hage wood La ndi ng . When t h e y disembark ed they would go 

t o t he o nl y hou s e i n s iGht, Mr . Eliaze r's home , and e a t 

b reakfast a n d wai t f o r a rider to no t ify t he We ems boys to 

bri ng over t h e common sp ring l es s t wo horse farm wag on. 

dl s of the time Eliaze r made the Ge nnetts welcome regar es 

o f ni ght they arrived becau s e i n Nashville h e had used 

t heir h ome a s a hosp i t al whe n hi s daugh ter Do ra h a d an 

Mr . 
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operation to "uncross" her eyes . All 
operations were per-

forined i n the home , and the eye specialist would no t travel 

down river to Hagewood Landi ng . 21 

Af t er the t rip had been descri·bed f o r the boys, they 

would ask question s about the boats and especially abou t 

t h e ir favorite ri verboa t Captain, James w. Lovell . 22 Then 

un t Violet t a would open her bags and 8ive the boys strange 

and unusual tasting f ood items for them to t as te and eat . 

Mr . Ge nno tt had imported the first grapefruit from Florida 

t o Tennessee . Non0 of the boys could ever remember tasti ng 

anythine so b itter . They wore no t surprised to hear Aun t 

Viol3 tt a say that grapefruit sales were no t good. Aunt 

Violetta woul d stay three o r f our days with the boys before 

r eturning by boat to Nashville . 

Van' s favorite story teller was Will iam Loch Weems V, 

Uncle Buck, his fathe r's youngest brother, who lived on the 

adj oining farm. Uncle Buck would tell about Van's name­

sake , Uncl e Philip Van Horn Weems and Van's father's 

adve ntures duri ng the Civil War . Uncle Van had volunteer0 d 

at t h e b egi nn i ng of the war, j oining the 11th Tennessee 

Regime n t . Within a short time he was commander of Company H 

21 unpublished autobiography of Andrew GenneJt, Duke 
University Library, Mic r ofilm Division, PP• 26- 2 • 

22Byrd Douglas, Steamboatin' 
lished by Tennessee Book Company, 
1961, P • 189. 

On the Cumberland, pub~ 
Nashville, Tennessee, in 
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and participated in many battles,~-
nu.rfreesboro, Perryville, 

Chi ckamauga, and finally Atlanta, wh 
ere he was killed on 

July 24, 1964. 

In later years Van ... 
span~ countless hours writing 

letters and researching the deta ils of his uncle's death. 

He obtained his commi ssion in the Confederacy signed by 

Isham G. Harris, Governor of Tennessee, on June 6, 1861. 

Thero were also his will and several letters. 2 3 One letter 

describe d the economic problams of the day: " ••• since 

I wrote you last I had to pay two hundred fifty dollars 

for a pair of boots ••• to buy a couple of horses I would 

have t o pay f our thous and dollars. 1121~ In 192 5 Van would 

meet several ex-Confederates who described how Major P. V. H. 

Hearns was shot seven times while urging members of his 

regiment to dislodge a deceptively large Federal force in 

a ravin e . 

Van's father, Joseph Burch, had run away from home at 

the age of fifteen afte r be ing mistreated by a group of 

drunke n soldiers. He joined Lt. General Nathan Bedford 

Forres t as a member of his company of "Harvey's" scouts. 

He was surrendered by Lt . Gen. Richard Taylor, CSA, to Major 

---- ---
2 3copy of Will, Commission, and letters in P._v. H. 

· st ta Library and Archives, We ems Collection, Tennessee a 
Manuscript Division. 

24Letter dated June 23, 1864! camp near Marietta, Ga. 
P. v. H. Weems Collection, loc. cit. 
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General E . R. 8 . Canb y , USA, May 4 1865 , , and paroled a ~ 

Grenada, Mis3issippi, on May 19 , 1865, at the age of 

nineteen. 2 5 

Uncle Buck was twelve years old when his brother Joe 

returned to their plantation home of five hundred acre s on 

t he Duck River, Tennessee. Joe 1 s Mo t her an s were d the door 

and did no t recognize the tall bearded stranger. Fearing 

t ha t it was someone trying t o take what pos sessions they 

h ad left, she wanted to know who the st ranger was and what 

ho wa nted. When the s t range r told he r t hat he was her son 

J oe , she fainted. 26 Sh e coul d no ~ bel i eve t ha t this g rown 

be arded man was her smooth f aced boy who had run away fou r 

years earlier to join the Confederacy . 

This story would lead Uncle Buck i n t o telling how h i s 

f a t her was forced to make a decision between twenty-five 

hundred acres of wild timberland he had purchased on 

Barton ' s Creek and the beautiful home place of five hundre d 

Du k R. At the end o f the Civil War , Grand-acres on c i ver. 

d t t d He did not have a fathe r's plantation was evas a e • 

labor force to grow cotton, or a market to sell it. All 

of his "blood" mares and his magnificen t roan stallion, 

~5 v H Weems on October 25, 1961, '- Speech given by P. • • rr at Baltimore, 
"Gone ral Forrest CSA, a nd His S~o~ t c~:~~~' of the United 
Maryland, during the 64th Annua onv 
Daughters of the Confederacy. 

26 l tt Weems Slayden, Op. Cit. Taped interview, Via 8 a 



"Rob Roy," had b een taken by the Federal or Confederate 

f o r•ces. 'Ihe stallion was a Copper Bottom breed and had 

been taken by a Confederate detachment connnandar in a 

"trade." F k " th 11 or ma 1.ng e forced trade" with the detachment, 

he was thrown i n t o jail by tho Federal authorities on a 

charge of "aiding and abetting" the enemy . ''He was tried 

by court martial and sentencod to pay a fine of five hundred 

dollars gold. After about ten days in jail without bedding , 

he was able to borrow the money to pay his fine . 112 7 

By the end of the war h e was heavily in debt , and in 

1870 had to sell the home that he had built in 1859 . He 

belie ved that it would be be tter to divide the unimp roved 

timb e rland on Barton's Creek among his children rather than 

selling "the wild timbe rland " at a low price to pay off 

the h ome place and then divide it into small uneconomical 

farms . About the time the farm was sold to Mr. w. E . 

McEwen, a bill was introduced in t h e House of Represen t a­

tives for thirty-five hundred dollars to reimburse Van's 

Grandfather for about thirty- f ive haad of horses and mule s 

taken by the Federal forces. The bill was rejected when 

h e re fused to take the oath of allegiance to the United 

States. 2 8 

2 7unpublished autobiography of_Andrew Gennett, Duke 
University Library, Microfilm Division, P• 495. 

28Letter from Andrew Ge nnett to P. V. H. Weems, dated 
March 19, 1934, Tennessee State Library and Archives, Manu ­
scrip t Division. 
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A couple of year s e arlie r Grandfather had sen t hi s two 

young s ons to t he '~arton Creek wil d land . " 

Joe a n d Bu ck drove over f rom Hickman County to take 
ove r the operation of tho new land and establish a 
home fo r the f amily . They were just boys--Bu ck be i ng 
only 1 2 year s o f age , blue eyed and fair, and Joe 
s ome wh a t older with b r own eyes , dark hair and a stocky 
bui l d . The b rothers were very close then and continu ed 
s o thr oughout the remai nder of their lives . Joe was 
a n e x trovert with a dynrunic personality who could 
converse with ease, Bu ck was the quiet thinker type 
with a kee n perception and sometimes a quick temper. 
They had t h e j ob of clearing the land which was 
p rac t ically a ll wooded a t the time except for the 
creek bottoms , a nd g e tting the place under cul tiva­
tion.29 

The ne w h ome was a drastic chang e from the stately mansion 

i n Hi ckma n Cou nty . It consis t ed of a cabin with a kitche n 

a bout t wen ty yar ds a way with a "dog trot" connecting the 

t wo bui ldi ngs . The b oys did not mind movi ng into s u ch 

primitive l i ving conditions. Within a few years the dog 

trot was closed i n, a n upstairs and a wi ng was added, and 

the en t ire s t ruc ture we ather boarded.30 

29weemsana, Vol. XII, No. 1, June, 1966, P • 1. 

30Taped interview wi t h Mrs. Violet t a Weems Slayden, 

Op. Cit• 



CHURCH Ai'fD SCHOOL 

Religious training for Van and his brothers was no t 

overlooked by his Mother and later Mrs. Nannie. They 

would dress the boys in thei:r "store bought " clothes each 

Sunday and take them to Rye s Chapel. This was the small 

community church that was founded in 1876 by Van's father, 

hi s Grandfather, Dr . Tom H. Rye, and Mr. T. B. Watkins. 

In 1876 Van's father was thirty-one years old, a 

bachelor, living with his Mother on the farm. Seve n years 

after founding the church wi th Dr. Rye, he married Bessie, 

Dr . Rye ' s daughter, in the church they helped to establish . 

The first pastor of tho church was Rav. A. T. Goodloo 

Se rvices ware conducted for seventeen years in the 

"vertical boa.rd and batten" Walnu t Grove one-room school. 

By 1893 the congregation had outgrown the one-room school, 

and Dr . Tom H. Rye and Mr. A. A. Baxter donated a plot of 

land f or the church . A larger building was erected by 

tha and of the year. 

Whan the congregation moved into the new building, the 

name of the church was changed from Walnut Grove to Ryes 

Chapel Methodis t Church i n honor of Dr. Tom H. Rye. The 

R t.r T s Cook By 1897 the church was new pas tor was ev. ~v. • • • 

cle ar of all indebtedness and dedicated as property of the 



Southern Methodist Church. 
On September 5, 1902 , George 

Talley, Uncle George, and wife Li da donated land fo r a 

church cemetery. 1 

Within a month after Van's Mother's funeral at Rye ' s 

Chapel, li fe on the farm had retur ned to a routi ne. 

Violetta had g one by riverboat to Nashville t o l i ve wi t h 

Aun t Violetta. Tom Na t had re tur ned to wo~k o n the f a rm . 

Van, Joe B., and John h ad s t a r te d back t o Walnu t Gro ve 

School . Years late r Van wro te a n article about his f irst 

visit to the school . 

My earliest recolle ct ion of Walnut Grove School is 
t hat of a small one room, verti c al board and batten , 
s chool house. It was op e rate d by Mr . J immy Wyatt , 
father of Mr. Billy Wyatt , who tau ght there several 
years. My first appearance a t t he s chool was whe n 
I was taken the re by my brother, Tom Nat, f or a visit 
in about 1893, when I was four ye ars old. 

About 1898, a new building was e r ecte d near t he 
site o f the old one. The community was in t he horse 
and buggy days . Our home was li t tle differen t from 
our pioneer forebears. The "Anderson Girls" still 
reared sheep, carded and spun wool from which my 
mother made the trousers I wore. They also raised 
"goober peas" and had molds to make their clay pipes, 
and to mold bulle ts for the long deer rifle tha t hung 
over their front door, on which its original owner's 
name, John Anderson, was engraved. 

The farmers raised corn, wheat, oats, clover, 
tobacco along wi th orchard fruit, vegetables, and 
live st~ck. There was an impressive spirit of com­
munity cooperation, exemplified by the "barn 
raisings" and quilting parties, wheat thrashings, 
and other semi-social events. 2 

17 

lMrs Allen c Harvey, "Joseph Burch Weems was one of 
Founders ;f Ryes Chapel Congrogation in 1876, 11 Weemsana, Vol. 
YJ.V, No. 1, July, 1968, P• 9. 

2 c t P V H Weems "Weems Recalls Early Days at 
ap • • • • ' · 1 J rrlT Walnut Grove School, 11 Clarksville Leaf-Chronic e, anua ... J 

29, 1967, P• 3-A. 
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One o f the teachers that made a big impression on Van 

was Mr . Emile Ro th from Mount Pl 
easant, Tennessee. He had 

returne d from his tour of duty in the Philippines during 

the American occupation following the Spanish-American War 

a f ter the schools of importan c e had selected their teachers 

for the coming year. Walnut Grove, 1 6th District, 

Montgomery County, Tennessee, needed a teacher, but the 

s alary was only eighty dollars a month . Van's Mother 

valued a good teacher for he r boys. She had earned her 

"lice nse" to teach before she married Van's father. With 

all her five boys attending Walnut Grove School, she felt 

tha t it would be to her advantage to pay Mr. Roth extra 

to teach at the one-room school. She offered to pay him 

twenty dollars more each month and allow him to board at 

the Weems home if he would truce the teaching position. 

This arrangement wo rked out very satisfactory to all 

parties. Mrs. J.B. Weems obtained a qualified teacher for 

her boys. Mr. Roth obtained a salary equal to that paid 

in the better schools in the community, and he was able to 

save most of his salary by boarding at the Weems home. 

The added advantage was that the boys were supervised at 

home and at school by a quali:fied instructor . 3 

Mr. Roth had already picked Van out as one of the ou t ­

standing students in the one-room fraJUe school, but he could 

3weemsana, Vol. X, No. 1, June, 1964, P• J. 
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not u
nd

er
st

a
nd 

how Van was able to continue to stand at the 

head of his class without studying at home or at school. 

Va n wan ted to play and tussle with 
his brothers and buddies 

al l the time. 
As soon as the recess bell rang, Van would 

be the first one ou t the door to play and run. Mr. Roth 

decided to watch Van for several days and determine how he 

was learning his lessons. 

Van was unaware that he was being observed and continued 

h is normal routine. While playing, he tried his best to win 

a t the rough and tumble games by using his height and weight 

t o off-set his awkwardne ss. When recess was over, Van was 

the first one to line up for a drink of water out of the 

s chool ' s one water bucket and single gourd dipper. He then 

rushed to his seat and put his hands over his ears to 

concentrate on his assignment. Mr. Roth realized that in 

addition to Van being intelligent, he had the ability to 

concentrate on what he was studying very intently for a few 

minutes, and that was enough to stand him at the front of 

his class in the one-room school. 4 

d h 1 came from his Mother. Van's desire to atten sc oo 

She was mentally alert a nd tried to encourage all of her 

i She encouraged her nephews, children to obtain an educat on . 

4Interviaw with Mrs. 
1972, Waverly, Tennessee, 
memory. 

Violetta Slayden, December 13, 
90 with a clear, sharp age , 
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t h e Cunninghams from Clarksville ad th G , n e ennetts f r om 

Nashville, t o vis it the f arm a nd a s sociate with her s ons . 

Fre que ntly , the nephews would bring some of their old books 

t o the fa rm for the Weems fam4 l y . Th 
~ e eagerness wi t h 

wh ich the y read o n e se t of books, Beadle' s Nickel Library , 

i mp r e ssed Andrew Ge nnet t , and he ma de a special effort t o 

send all of his old books to the "backwards communi ty that 

had littl e e du cational or lite rary facilities. "5 

When Van was eight or nine years of age , t he family 

was g ath ere d around the f ireplace one cold win t er ni gh t 

t alking to Gr a ndfather Rye. His mo t her placed h e r hand on 

Va n 1 s head and s aid, "I'm going to send this boy to Wes t 

Po in t ." Van remembers the remark clearly, but he could no t 

expl a in in later years why she made the remark. He t hinks 

t ha t s h e cho s e Wes t Point because i t was well known in t he 

community. Gene r al Gran t and General Robert E. Lee had 

a ttended West Poi n t , and their b ackground was well known in 

t he commun i ty. 

A year or so later a classmat e at Walnut Grove Sch ool 

was getting ready t o leave t h e community and "go away t o 

school. 11 'Ibis was the normal pat t e r n f or t hose in t he 

community who wanted to continue their e ducat ion. 

f amily had gathered for sunday dinner, the t opic of 

Whe n the 

Sunpublished autobiography of Andrew Gennet t , Op. Cit. 
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conversation turned to thi 
s young man and opin i ons were 

e xpressed at t he table of his p r om1.· se and p ossible f u ture . 

As the family bragged about the s t u dent, suddenly Van t uned 

d . d II up an cr1.e out, Dog g one i t , Gr anddaddy Rye, if o ther 

boys can go off t o s chool and do things, I can t oo, I know 

I can." After the f amily assured Van that he would receive 

his opportuni ty when the t ime a rrived , he "cleared" up, 

a nd members of the family paid a l ittle more attenti on to 

his education. 6 

In Van's l a st year at Walnut Grove School , 1905-1906 

s chool year, his Uncl e Geo rge Tally had been bi t ten by a 

mad d og. Uncle Geo r g e was almo st "touched off" wi t h worry 

about getting rabies becaus e treatment was no t immedia t ely 

a va i lable in the communi t y. Uncle George asked Van to come 

live wi t h him and h e l p him wi t h his crop . Va n dropped out 

of school a few weeks early and move d int o the home of his 

Mo t h e r's youngest sister, Uncle George' s wi fe, on Grandfathe r 

Rye's old farm. Van had already finished his eighth grade 

McGuffey's reader and was willing "to make a crop" for 

Uncle George. 

As van followed the mule in the field day after day, 

breaking the land and planting the seed, he had time to 

think about his future. Early in the swmner Van was 

6rnterview with Mrs. Violetta Slayden, Op. Cit. 
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instructed to "cut" the spring oats. He took the cradle 

and went to the field. v h an ad watohed older men use the 

cradle, but he had never been allowed to handle it because 

it was a fragile farm implement made of light wood and a 

cutting blade. 

Van had worked several hours when he caught the blade 

on a root or something and broke the blade causing the 

wooden cradle to collapse. Van was mad at himself because 

he knew that quick tempered Uncle George would bawl him 

out for his inexperience. When he returned to the house 

Uncle George saw that Van was upset and let the awkward 

situation pass. He repaired the cradle and sent Van back 

to the field to finish the job. 

Toward the end of the summer Van began to realize that 

he would never "finish" the crop and have time to go away 

to school. By the time he would have the tobacco, hay, 

and corn in the barns, it would be time to plant the tobacco 

seed bed for the next year. He made the decision that he 

wanted to go away to school and rode his mule over to 

"Cabin Row" and hired a young man for twelve dollars a month 

to finish the crop. When he told Uncle George what he had 

done, it was satisfactory to everyone. 
About six months 

later van received a twenty dollar gold piece from Uncle 

George for the work he had done on the farm. 
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Van asked Cousin L ch 0 to obtain an appointment to West 
Point for him. Cousi L h h 

n oc ad supported Fiddlin' Bob 

Taylor for Governor and more recently for u s • • Senator. 

Knowing that Senator Bob liked a good story he wrote, "a 

young man rode up to my office today on a mule and asked me 

to get him appointed to West Point. The boy was dressed 

in overalls and a straw hat." c · Loh ousin c had laid it on 

t hick, but that pleased Senator Taylor and he wrote back 

i mmediately that he did not have an appointment to West 

Point but he did have an appointment to Annapolis.7 

Cousin Loch made arrangements for Van to enter Branham 

and Hughes School in Springfield, Tennessee, a prep school 

f or Vanderbilt University. When Van arrived at the school 

Mr . Branham asked Van his name. Van told him, "Van." Mr. 

Branham said, "No, I mean your full name. Van said, "Van 

Horn. 11 Then Mr. Branham said, "your complete name." Van 

had only needed his first name in the country but then 

realized that Mr. Branham wanted all of his name and said, 

"Philip Van Horn Weems of Turbine, Tennessee." '!his brought 

a smile to Mr. Branham who then asked how much Latin, Greek, 

world history and algebra Van had taken. When Van answered 

7 i p v H Weems by Mr. John 
Interview with Capta n 1• 1 •M •yland March 25, 1969. 

Mason Naval Ins ti tu te, Annapo s, ar , 
! ight ith a fair memory. Captain Weems was e Y w 
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none, he was placed in the beginning class. 
These young-

stars crune to Van's wai·st. Aft b 
er a out three weeks he was 

advanced to the freshman class. 

Board and room at Branham and Hughes cost Van seven 

dollars a month. Six dollars for board and one dollar a 

month for room. The houses did no t have indoor plumbing 

nor running water. By the end of the school year Van bad 

advanced to "part junior." After returning the next year 

Cous in Loch wrote Van a letter dated September 27, 1907, 

and informe d him that his appointment to Annapolis was 

f irm . Also, Congressman Padgett had offered to appoint 

him to West Point. "If you have finally determined on 

Annapolis inform Mr. Padgett immediately after receiving 

this , my latter of your determination, so as not to delay 

him making another appointment . 118 Cousin Loch also 

included a draft of a letter f or Van to send to Mr. L. P . 

Padgett , Columbia, Tennessee. 

van wrote Mr. Padgett that he had made the decision to 

atte nd Annapolis. Cousin Loch then made arrangements for 

Van to attend a Naval Academy prep school, Bobby Werntz, 

at Annapolis. When Van arrived there he realized that he 

was at a disadvantage. some of his classmates had already 

8 L Cook to P. v. H. Weems, dated 
Letter from Judge V ~•H. • Weems Papers, Tennessee State 

September 27, 1907, P. 1 t Division 
Library and Archives, Manuscr P • 
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att0 nded college and were well t rained to take the entrance 

exnmi na t ion s . He wrot C i ~,. e ous n Loch of his possible 

failure. A letter of encouragement was returned: 

I hope you will pass your examinations and I 
believe you will. But if you fail to do so I want 
to get Senator Taylor to reappoint you if by further 
preparation you can pass within the next twelve months. 
Do not fear that you will fall down, and you won 1 t. 
If you do fall _down, don 1 t get rattled, but keep at 
work, and we will try it again.~ 

Van passed the entrance examinations to the United 

States Naval Academy. The day after the names had been 

p os t e d he met a classmate, J ack Amis, on the streets o f 

Annapolis. Van congratulated Jack on passing the examina­

t ion. Jack said, "Weems I don't believe I am going into 

the Naval Academy." Van asked, "Why Jack?
11 

He answered, 

11 1 do n I t believe I can go into the Academy and lead a 

Christian life, when you go aboard ship the young officers 

will force you to drink liquor." This conversation made 

d h Credl.·ts it for helping him to 
an imp ression on Van, an e 

,, 1· 1110 keep away from 1.quor. 

Van entered Annapolis in 1908 and began a life 
th

at 

was new and 
different from the life he had known 

completely 

in Tennessee. He was almost a year older and much more 

He determined 
mature than most of his 1912 classmates. 

9Letter dated May 21, l908 , Loe. Cit. 

P V H Weems, Ibid. 
10rnterview with Captain • • • 



t ha t this was II 1 a go den opport un·t II 
i Y cor.tpared t o workin~ 

on ,.:;he farm. Van did not fo rget about his family in 

When he began to compose Turbi ne. poetry he wrote: 

SIX PALS 

While six of us were t oge the r at h _ . ome, 
Happy, carefree , with no desire t o roam, 
He had no chance to meet "Mr R E M..,, 11 ..... • • • o .... se, 
And ..... we hung ~ogether a s a matter of cour se . 
In ~hose pleasant days of youth, 
We scarcely t ook time to view the tru th 
Of how dear old Turbine would be missed' 
Whe n for each on a s eparate course s t e~n fa t e woul d . ' insist. 

Perhaps we would argue and make a no i sy s cene , 
Or sister would tease •rom about his la t es t Quee n, 
Quite often Tom would give Joe's head a souse, 
Just for the sake of a healthy rough-house . 
When for a ring tailed ~oat it was Van' s t urn, 
Tom would say Van's 11 if is not wort h a darn . 
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Old Satan was a nickname tha t Hat t on could no t endur e , 
And John would give five hundred dollars for the 

tobacco habit cure. 

Now p r esen t s, k ind letters, and sincere interest 
from Sister we receive, 

For financial and practical help in Tom we believe, 
Joe is a staunch friend t h rough thick and thin. 
Van is a question mark bu t hopes for more than 

"has been." 
Hatton is the bud who is beginning his career, 
That ha will fail to make good, we have no fear. 
Contrary to any age rule John half runs the place at 

home, 
And will be one of the first to have a hone of his 

own. 

Now with now conditions we take a saner view, 
And see that we love our pals as before we never 

knew. 
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We can see plainly in each of our six lives, 
A developed and full-size interest in each of the 

other five, 
And where ever in our motives we strike rock bottom, 
We shall find there a great depth of devotion. 
If ·we always stick together we can do more than save , 11 
Th~ good name "Weems" that our Scot t ish Fathers gave. 

'' 911 DiaYTV n Tennessee 
1 ~.,' 

llcaptain P. v. H. Weems, ipt Division. 
State Library and Archives, M,anuscr 



ANNAPOLIS 

Van's first few weeks as a plebe 
at the United States 

Naval Academy were no t as difficult h h 
as e ad expected. 

The stories that were told in the Bobby Werntz Preparat ory 

School led him to believe that the upperclassmen would 

harass him to death. Van's greatest problem had been hi s 

f rie ndliness. He wanted to give everyone a big smile and 

a ne i ghborly "howdy. 11 Th 1 e upper c assmen thought that 

bre aking in t he new plebes was serious business , and the 

smile and friendly greeting cost Van extra atten t ion t ha t 

ho could have done without. 

One of the first things that Van noticed was that he 

was larger, stronger, and betto r developed physically than 

most of his classmates. Initially he had no t considered 

this an asset. He merely attributed his natural athletic 

ability and coordination to working on the farm with his 

arms and shoulders. Stooping on the farm, planting tobacco 

plants by hand and lifting green oak cross-ties developed 

his back-lifting muscles. The lifts that he made as a plebe 

would bs as good as he would ever do while at the Academy.
1 

lrnterview with Captain P. V. H. Weems on March 25, 
1969, conducted by Mr. John Mason, Naval Institute, 
Annapolis, Maryland. 
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His roonnnate, Ingram Cec1.·l 
Sowell, was about t he same 

s ize as Van. He had b · ht rig red hair, and h i· s nickname , 
"~ed," was a natural 

carry over from civili an lif e. It was 

fashionable to give everyone a nickname . Bef ore the s chool 
Year was out, Van was tagged w1.·th th e nickname of "Mammy ." 

The re are two versions of how Van acquir ed this nickname . 

One version is that he loved people and t ended t o "mot her" 

t he younger classmates and the depende nt kids around the 

Academy. 2 Th th i i e o er vars on s that i t was an extension 

of Van's Tennessee accent on t he wo r ds "Yes Ma ' run" wi th a 

l ong d rawn out Ma 1 am.3 The nickname stuck and close 

f riends and classmates addros sed him as Mannny We ems . 

The nickname Mammy was so out of p l ace t hat it could 
be accepted only by Mammy himse l f . It was fit t i ng 
because of his athleti c prowess and hi s strength of 
character. Van was agg r e ssive, a f ight e r and was 
not afraid of the devil himself. Van accep t ed hi s 
nickname because he knew that he was

4
not a mrunby­

pamby and everyone else knew i t t oo. 

Van and his roonnnate, Red, worked hard on the i r academic 

studies. Bo th were invited to t ry out for the football 

te am. This was the first time Van had played organized 

2rnterview with Col. William Slayden, lawyer and 
nephew of Captain P. v. H. Weems, on December 13, 1972, 
Waverly, Tennessee, age 61. 

3 P V. H. Weems, APril 17, 1973, Interview with Mrs. • 
Annapolis, Maryland, age 82, alert, good recall. 

1. L d Classmate of 4Letter from Captain R. A. aven er, 
Captain Weems, dated April 4, 1973• 



30 

sports, and he really thought it 
was great fun. He had not 

seen a football until he arrived 
at Annapolis and did not 

know the rules of the game. Van had rowed a boat on the 

Cumberland River, but he had not seen a racing hull. 

Wre st1 ing was the only sport in which Van felt comfortable 

from the beginning. He and his brothers had wrestled all 

t he time. 

Van entered Annapolis du r ing the transition from 

sai ling ships to steam, and his class would take the last 

cruise on the sailing ship Hartford in 1909. One class that 

Van excelled in for several months as a plebe was seaman­

ship . The instructor, Commander Geln, required the 

midshipmen to recite sailing problems. Van quickly realized 

that his Walnut Grove School mental arithmetic problems 

gave him an edge. He spoke up with the answers quickly 

and made a good initial impression. 

Van's first academic stUJT1bling block was mechanical 

drawing. He had never used a drawing set. He had problems 

with its use and understanding how to draw the models and 

items like a standard screw thread that was required. He 

received a failing mark and had visions of bilging out, 

failing, until his instructor, Commander Bartlet, suggeS t ed 

that he take some of the models to his room and practice• 

About this s81Jle time Van contacted a severe case of 

ringworms from some athletic clothing that he had been issued. 
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He was restricted by the Academy d t 
oc or to his room for 

several weeks. He practiced draw·ing th d 1 e mo es and every-
t hing else in his room. By th ti e me the quarantine was 

lifted and he returned to class, he could draw well enough 

tha t he was exempt from takin~ the final examination.5 

While in quarantine, he received numerous get-well cards 

and let t ers from friends and his family. One letter that 

he treasured was from the senator who had appointed him, 

Senator Taylor, who wrote, "I trust your s i ckness is slight 

and t hat you may soon be restored to your work. I should 

l ike t o live to see my first cadet become an admiral. 116 

After the first of the year Van and his classmates 

were allowed to leave the Academy on afternoon passes into 
7 11 crabtown." This was the first t i me Van no t iced a creek 

name d "Weems Creek." In his English classes his attention 

was focused on the name Weems again. This time it was Mason 

Loch "Parson" Weems, the biographer of George Washington• 

Van became interested in faJllily genealogy and started read­

i ng up on the family and writing letters home in an attempt 

-
5rnterview with Captain P. V. H. Weems by Mr. John 

Mas~n, Ibid. 

6 tor Robert L. Taylor to Captain P. v. 
Letter from Sena 24 1908 Tennessee state Archives, 

H. Weems, dated December , , 
Ibid. 

?Midshipmen nicknaJDB for the town of Annapolis, 
Maryland. 
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to trace the family history b k 

ac to Maryland. He had 
heard stories that his grandf th 

a er at the age of seven in 
1825 had come to Tennessee with his parents from 

"Bi llingsley" n u 
ear pper Marlboro, Prince George County, 

Maryland. This ini'ormation was verbal for no one in 

Tennessee had written records. 

Whan Van learned he was an eighth 
cousin to Parson 

Weems , he searched the Academy library and read all of the 

books written by the parson. Van thought it was rather odd, 

t hat in spite of all the fine books written by Parson Weems, 

he would be remembered as the man who originated the story 

about George Washington cutting down his father's cherry 

t ree . 

Van learned that the first Weems that came to America 

was Dr. James Weems. He arrived in Maryland in 1715. In 

1720 he sent for his Mother, Elizabeth Loch Weems, and a 

brother, David Weems. David Weems was the father of Parson 

Weems. Dr. James Weems married, and his son was Nathaniel 

Chapman Weems I. Nathaniel married Violetta, the youngest 

daughter of Philip Van Horn of New Jersey. lheir son, 

William Loch Weems III, married Elizabeth Taylor Burch, a 

cousin to General Zachary Taylor. William and Elizabeth, 

along with their sons, Joseph Burch Weems, who was born in 

1820, and Nathaniel Chapman Weems, Van's Grandfather, moved 

to Lick Creek in Hiclanan County, Tennessee, in 1825• In 
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1826 they moved to the old w A Ma • • Ys place at Vernon, and 
then in 1827 moved to the farm on ~-ck 

iJU. River, Tennessee, 

where Van's father was born in 1845.8 

The original spelling of the family name was Wemyas. 

Van was never able to determine why the spelling of the 

family name was changed when Elizabeth Loch Weems and her 

so ns immigrated to America from Scotland. In Scotland the 

name is still spelled Wemyss. 

The biggest thrill in 1909 was going to Turbine, 

Te nne ssee, in September after the summer cruise aboard the 

Hart ford. Van had been home but a day or so when he 

received word that Audrey Batson was going to throw a 

"house party." Van planned a big evening, but some of his 

plans did not materialize. A neighbor, Grigsby Tally, caxne 

by t o pick up Etta Woodward. Van, Grigsby, and Etta then 

drove the buggy up the hollow to Uncle Buck's to pick up 

Mi nna and her sister, Annie Weems. Uncle Buck would not 

let his daughters go because they would be "late in the 

B t , " Since Minna and night returning from Audrey a sons. 

Annie could not go, they had to take Etta back home. 

Grigsby and Van drove over to the party alone. 

late and the ''house party" had already started. 

They were 

Delma 

8 b t E Corlew, and Enoch L. 
Stanley L. Folmsbee, Ro er(Le~s Historical Publishing 

Mitchell, Histor.z. ~o_f_T_ennes~-*1' IV • 866. 
Co., Inc., New -York, 19b0) Vo ume ' P 



34 

Batson, Euvie Shirte, Inez Dick 
son, Nannie Swift, Mabel 

Neblett were some of the girls 
Van recognized from Walnu t 

Grove School days. Van became the life of the party when 

he s tarted telling about the marvelous things he had done 

and see n on the east coast. Everyone wanted to know about 

t he horseless carriages that were becoming fashionable 

a round Annapolis. When the party was over, everyone 

Gathe red on the fron t porch. The strain on the p orch was 

s o g reat that it broke down. No one was hurt, but it did 

e nd t he party. 

The next day Van took Mrs. Nannie and Etta to Slayden, 

Te nnes see. While in Slayden they were invited to dinner 

at the home of one of Mrs. Nannie's close f riends, Mr. Tom 

Po t ts . They had an excellent meal of fried chicken, 

pe ach preserves, rhubarb pie, and plum jelly. While the 

women were cleaning up the kitchen, the man gathered on 

the p orch to sample some hard cider. Mr. Billy Hayes, an 

old Co nf ederate veteran who was in the 11th Tennessee 

Regiment with Uncle P. v. H., stopped by when he saw the 

hard cider jug on the porch. Hr. Potts went after his 

f iddle and Mr. Hayes started singing soma old anti-Yankee 

war s ongs between samples from the jug. 
The man were about 

11 bl Party when Mrs. Nannie 
to turn the afternoon into a fu own 

came out and announced that she was ready to go home. 

rode a horse over to a picnic 
About a week later Van 

and Marshall aunninghaxu, 
and colt show given by Sam Weems 



t wo of his cousins. 
There were pretty girls galore, good 

horses, and plenty of good things to eat. 
Van was intro-

duced to Miss Fannie Wattciu Is little 
Memphis cousin, Mis s 

Mary Baxter. He had been dating Miss Clara Nicks while he 

wa s home but Mary Baxter really turned his head. Summer 

leave p assed quickly after he started calling on Mary. He 

was having so much fun he hated to leave Tennessee and 

re tur n t o Annapolis. 
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By t he fall of 1909 , Mammy had made the vars ity foo t ­

ball t eam. But his first "N 11 9 was earned i n wrestling i n 

t he spring when he won the ligh t -heavy wrestling champ i on ­

ship for the first time. He also became a member of the 

cre w t eam. Van was determined to buckle down and do better 

i n his studies. While he was home Cous in Loch had talked 

t o Van about making better grades. Van was delighted wi th 

a letter from Cousin Loch after the first repor t in the 

f all had reached home. 

W. L. Cook 
Judge 9th Judicial Circui t 
December 23, 1909 

Dear Van - t b 
1 t report. You seem o e I enclose your as 

i f . shape, and I want to see making your marks, n air 
you keep it up. 

I onsidered brilliant men 
Never in life have ldc It is the bulldog of a 

of much value to the wor • 

for achievement and proficiency 9Athletic letter given 
in a spo1"'t. 



fellow that gets there. Tenacity and tact are worth 
most - Ge~ Elbert Hubbards (_sic] "Message to Garcia11 
and read it. It covers about three pages of an 
ordinary book and tells a simple tale with a world 
large lesson of life in it. 
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Napolean was a genius, he was a great warrior, 
and a great statesman. But where one great man was 
brilliant a hundred was [sic] dull. Wellington, Grant, 
Gladstone, are samples. These men did things because 
they knew how to keep at it. Let others be considered 
smooth, brilliant. You want to keep your grades up 
so you can pass, and when you have a duty to perform -
when you are ordered to do a thing do it in spite of 
h 1 and do it with a cool determined rational 
purpose.JO 

Van took his guardian's advice and combined it with 

t he Academy's system of grading to pull himself up in 

a cademics. "In the Academy you get a mark every day. If 

you work every day and earn your mark you do not need a 

bulge . 1111 By the end of Van's second year he was getting 

excused from about half of his final ex8lllinations. Van, 

also , noticed that his classmate Harold E . Saunders, 

"Savvy, 11 never wasted a minute of work time in practical 

exercises and that was how a man of average ability could 

d . 1 2 
lead the class in aca emics. 

---· - - - ---- -
lOLetter as above, Tennessee state Library, Op. Cit. 

11 · p v ~ Weems by Mr. John 
Interview with Captahi~ h• ~um,tl.ative grade point 

Hason, Ibid. A bulge is a 1.g ac 
average to insure passing. 

12 H w ems November 19, 1962, 
Speech given by P. V. • 8 Sa~nders Memorial, copy 

at the dedication of the HiaroldTE~nessee state Library and 
of speech in Weems collect on, 8 

Archives, Manuscript Division. 
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Van began to search f or goals in life. 

t hat there ware two things that he 
He determined 

wanted to do. The first 
wa.s to write good English 

composition, and the second was 
t o "know music" b tt e er. To impro hi ve s writing ability he 
made a decision to keep 

a diary starting with the 1910 
summer cruise. 

To improve his music he learned several 

p opular songs and purchased a second 
hand violin. He was 

almost run out of the dorm b hi Y s classmates when he 

a ttempted to practice. 

Van's class departed for its summer cruise on June 4, 

1910 . He was assigned to the USS Iowa. Some of the early 

entries in his diary are: 

June 4, 1910 - embarked out on the tug "Standish" 
at 9:30 A.M. lashing hammocks 1st item of business. 

June 7, 1910 - coaling today, ate with bluejackets in 
general mess, others may complain but I will not 
complain about the food. Fulton beat me in two of 
three chess games. 

June 10, 1910 - Fed the fishes - supper, breakfast, 
dinner, I lay part of it on the coffee. The differ­
ence between land sickness and seasickness "When 
landsick a person hopes to get well, when seasick 
he hopes he doesn't get well." 
June 11, 1910 - Feeling better, no coffee, I had drunk 
coffee only once in last two or three years. 
June 13 1910 - a fellow from Nashville by the name 
of Hows~ is stroking [sic] on the same watch I am on. 
He seems to be a dandy fellow but I can't understand 
why he is stroking [sic) (shoveling coal in the boiler 
room). His brother is Mayor of Nashville. The oiler 
gave me a sandwich of beans, onions and bread, which 
he called a bean sanga.1 3 

-------
13niary entries from 1910 Diary, P. V. H. weems papers, 

Tennessee state Library and Archives, Manuscript Division. 



Van had learned to play chess from his Mother. 
She was the 

f amily champion. 

h ow she defeated him. 

Van's c · 
ousin Andrew Gennett never forgot 

I prided myself on my knowledg f 
Aunt Bessie suggested a e O the game. When 
misgiving. However I s~:efonedevening I had no 
in her hands She had t oun that I was a child 

• a na ural bent for chess.14 

Van enjoyed chess throughout his life. 
In the diary a note 

is made of the winning or los 1·ng f h 
o c ess matches with good 

pl aye rs. 

During each cruise the mj_dshipmen were given liberty 

i n one or two of the better ports of call on the cruise. 

On the 1910 cruise the main port of call was London, England. 

The f irst entry in the diary concerning liberty was on 

Ju ne 23, 1910, when Van changed ten dollars in gold for 

Engli sh money. On the following morning Van discovered 

that his strongbox had been broken into and that his money, 

and the money he was keeping for his shipmates, W. E. 

Gree nman, and "Red II Sowell, was mis sing. After much excite­

me nt the class members loaned Van, and the others who had 

money taken, enough English money for their shore leave. 

Van, his roommate Sowell, and his best buddy, Greenman, 

decided to stay together during the liberty. By the middle 

of the morning the trio had boarded a train at Plymouth for 

14unpublished Autobiography of Andrew Gennett, Dlke 
University Library, Microfilm Division, P• 40. 
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London. Lunch was served on the train. 
"Most of the 

f ellows ordered some kind of 
strong drink, but lemonade 

was the strongest" Van wanted. u 
pon arriving in London, 

they obtained a room at the Metropole Hotel and immedia t ely 

began their grand tour. While visiting the Westminster 

Abbey, Van became separated from Sowell and Greenman. He 

de cide d to stroll over and take in the House of Parliament . 

When I got there, I was told tha t i t was open only 
on Saturday from ten in the morning to three in the 
afternoon. For a project I went over t o the next 
door and started to walk right in and make myself 
a t home. I saw a card which said "Peer's entrance '' 
and ano t her which had on i t "House of Lords 11 but I 
p retended to think that I was allowed in the bui ld­
i ng. I had butted right into the door when a guard 
h a iled me and informed me that that entrance was fo r 
the peers and their eldest sons only. "Oh, you 
mean to say only the Lords are allowed in t o this 
door," all the time looking as innocent as you 
please. I had a short conversation with the guard 
and then "beat" it. I went back over to the Abbey 
and in a short time I ran into Greenman and Sowell. 

That evening the three midshipmen ate supper and wen t 

to s ee the play "Richard III." After the play they 

purchased oranges and strawberries for a snack and returned 

to their hotel room to write home. Van had eighteen pieces 

of mail when he had finished. The next morning after 

breakfast they visited St. Paul's (Cathedral) a nd the Tower 

of London. After that, they hired a cab for a tour of the 

Buckingham Palaces, Hyde Park; 
London Bridge, st. James and 

a t the British Museum. and they were dropped off 
'Ibey 

See everything in the Museum by 
sk ipped lunch in order to 
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clo s ing time. That evening they 

saw the play "Odd Man 
Ou t ," which would be made into a talkie 

movie by Sir Carol 
Reed in 1944 starring James Mason. 

The trio "slept in" 
the next morning and barely d 

ma e the last train back to 

Plymouth to catch the ship. 

The next event on the summer cruise that had a lasting 

e f fe ct on Van was the death of a classmate, Richard R. 

Landy f rom Lewisburg, ~ennessee, on August 20, 1910. 

Landy was one of Van's friends . 

Landy was a splendid young fellow in the third 
class. He was bright, s t ood well in his class and 
from everything I have learned of him, he had~ 
wonderful knack of making friends. He was one of the 
f ew Christian fellows aboard ship with moral stami na 
e nough to stand up for his ideals. As dead to 
Christianity as the majority are aboard this ship, 
he was an enthusiastic and earnest student of R. N. 
Parley's Bible class having met every night, with 
few exceptions, in the central station and devoted 
about thirty minutes to Bible study work and 
personal talks. Every one would lead in a word of 
prayer, then we would read about eight verses apiece 
from the Acts, which we finished once and have 
started again. 

Ri ch a rd R. Landy died of typhoid fever. His body was 

preserved in a leaden casket filled with alcohol a nd shipped 

home to Tennessee upon returning with the cruise ship to 

t he United States. 

Van had returned to Annapolis from 
By October 1910, 

his September leave in Tennessee, and was practicing hard 

to make first string center on the football team. Van was 

it . n with A B. Anderson. 
i n competition for the pos io • 
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" • • • Anderson beat me bu t aga i n a nd I 'm expe c t ing to be 

o n the 2 n d lineu p tomo rrow. " During the g ame t h e f ollowing 

Saturday , Sowe l l , Van , and F r a nk Lofti n pla ye d much of the 

g rune . Van made a spe c ial no te that t h is trio were all 

from Te nne s se e . 

Oc t ober 2 0 , 1 910 - Afte r about t we n ty mi nutes of 
p lay i ng Whe aton (C o ach ) call ed me ou t of the s econd 
te am an d t old me to take 1 st Ce n ter . 
Octobe r 22 , 1 910 - We t r i rmne d V. P . I . thre e to 
noth i ng . I go t a cu t a b o ve the eye that required 
t h r e e s t itche s . 

Thanksgivi n~ 1 910 - I h ave a lo ts to be thankful f o r . 
I h a ve n ' t boned very hard , yet my marks are fair and 
no ne a r e low e nou g h t o make me une asy - I am in 
sple ndid h e al th - I am happy and ~oo d f or t une has 
smi l ed on me fo r I p lay Saturday {ARMY ) on our f i ne 
fo o t b all team which is r a nked a bout 2 nd in the 
coun try . 

No vember 2 6 , 1 91 0 - ••• we l icked the "gray l e g s" 
3 to O. Sowe l l go t h u rt pretty badly , had one rib 
b r oke n bu t would no t c ome ou t o f the g ame . 

November 2 7 , 1910 - Lef t Philly at 2 :17 a nd arrive d 
a t Annapolis at 5 o 'clock, the b rigade turned ou t 
and I never saw such a de monstration as greete d u s 
on our arrival . The fe l lows d i d n' t l et u s touch the 
groun d from the car t o the carr i ages a nd pulled the 
carriages the mselves . Wh e n we g o t t o the main gate 
the sky l it up . The 2 nd Battal i on wi th brooms bla z ing 
fo rmed a doubl e l i ne fo r us to pass t hrough. Whe n we 
g o t t o Bancro f t Hall all the burning brooms were thr own 
t ogeth e r t o make a bonf i r e, locking hands the fe llows 
did t h e se rpen t ine dan ce around the f ire .15 

The Army-Na vy g ame e nded the 1910 - 11 f oo t ball s e a s on . 

Toe next d ay Van move d h is gear from the foo t ball locke r 

r o om to t he wrestling and boxing team locker room. As 

1 5111 911" Diary, Tennessee State Library and Archives, 
Op . Ci t . 



42 

l5_s t ed in the 1912 Lucky Bag ye a r book Van was a "perpe tual 

i_nhab i tant o f trainina t ables . 11 H 
u e was a star athlete 

earning s chool l etters i n foo t b all, c re w ( rowi ng ), and 

wre stl i ng . He wa s g iven the s word f o r excelle nce in 

n t:.hl Jti cs b y his classmates . 1 6 This s wo rd is no t given 

cval'y ye ar, o nl y who n there i3 a truly ou t standing athlete . 

Jlis f o o t b all "N" has t wo staro for "playing on tho 

w.i nn i nr. f o o !:; ball team twice a c;ainst Army . " 

Sportswrite~ Ted Coy p u t Van on t he second All-American 

football t eam at t h e cen t er position . The Richmond Virginia 

Dispatch p u t Va n in the f i rst lineup . Walter Camp placed 

hi111 o n the 3rd All-Ameri can te am . 1 7 This was the year tha t 

a y oun[s man n runed Jim Thorpe h ad made headli nes from a 

t oa.rn called the Caris l e Indians that Navy played. When 

all - t ime Navy te ams wero chos e n a few years later , Geo rge 

Tro vor wro te , "Mammy We ems was rather light for a pivo t but 

ho was a wildcat from tho Tennessee backwoods. He was the 

f ightinge st , wildcat r oving c e n t e r the Navy eve r produced . 1118 

Van was also the ligh t -heavy wrestling champion. It was 

t hi s sport that kep t Van in the sports news for several 

mo re years . 

16Annual Register of the U. s. N. A., Annapolis, Mary­
land , Washington Printing Office, 67th Academic Year, 1911 -
1 2 , p . 194. 

17Times-Herald, New Port News, Virginia, December 4, 
1 9 30. 

18George Trevor, Baltim_o_r~ Sun, March 28, 1927. 
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Van was e l ected as Pr esiden t of the Y. M. C. A. durinz 

h .i_s s onio l' year a t t he Academy . '11his wa :::i the onl y elec ted 

office in hi s clas s . All otho r posi t ions wore filled b y 

nprio i_n t men t~ by the faculty b ased on academic and me ri t 

::,tan di n[:js . Van considered himself a "rough-house charac t0 r , " 

r a t he r than a re l i 8 ious person . Mammy had atte nded the 

Y. M. C. A. mee ting and read the new Testame n t from cover t o 

co vo~ that Sister Violetta had given him. 1 9 He had o nly 

a n average conduct rec o r d . All o f his deme ri t s had been 

for lit t le fu n thi ngs l ike "sk y larking '' or "not salutinc: 11 

of ~1ich many of his fri e nds were guil ty . Tog ether, the y 

wo re Gaini ng the atten t ion of the upper-clas smen , as 

11
wooden headed 11 athletics . Van enj oyed athletics and tho 

j okes he received but he a l so wan ted to b e a g ood Y. M. C. A. 

p r e siden t . 

Van wa s c once rned abou t h ow his classmates woul d act 

at the f i rst me etin g . To i nsure t ha t he did not 11mess up , " 

h e wro te out wha t h e wan te d to s ay in hi s diary : 

May 4, 1911 - Program f o r t h e first meeting with t h e 
ne w off icers ele cted fo r 1912. The Lords Prayer -
Familiar Hymn - Sho r t talk by me as follows : 1. F i r st 
of all le t me thank you for electing me President of 
t h e Association for the coming year. 2 . We the off icers 
realize that nothin~ can be done without your moral 
support. 3. One word about the ''hard guys." There 
are some fellows that think t hey are too hard t o stand 
wi t h the association though these same fellows are 
from Christian homes and were accustomed to give their 
active support to Christian work. Well, we don't even 

- ---- -
19 111910 Diary," August 2?, 1910 entry, Tennessee State 

Li brary and Archives, Manuscript Division. 



solic~ t t h e s upport of such f e l lows . All we ask o f 
th0m i s thn t the y no t hi nde r the f ellows tryi ng t o 
h e lp the Associat ion . - Introduce speake r si ng 
hymn , chaplai n t o d ismiss u s . 2O ' 

"F a t s " Elmer , Robert Emme tt Elmer, and o t hers comp ossd 

a hi l ariou s s ong t o catch the spi rit of the Regimen t and 

how they felt ab ou t t heir buddy , Mammy Weems , ne wl y 

e lected Preside n t of the Y. M. C. A. Mammy never all owe d i t 

t o be sung a t the me eting s , b u t it be c ame so well known 

t h a t the f i rst line of t he s ong i s i n the 1912 Annap ol is 

Y0nrboo1c . 21 The f irst t hree verse s are : 

WEEMS Y. M. C. A. 

W0 a r o , we are , t h e We ems Y. M. C. A. 
Wo are , we are , t h e Weems Y. M. C. A. 
Wha t the h ell do we care what the people say , 
For we are , we are, we a re , the Weems Y. M. C. A. 

There wa s a God-damned sp ider crawled up the wate r 
spout , 

Along came a thunde r sto rm a n d washed the b astard out , 
And wh en the sun came out a g ain a nd dro ve awa y the 

rain, 
The God-damned spider c r a wle d up the spout again . 

Yes wo a ro , we are , we a r e , the Weems Y. M. C. A. 
We are , we are , we are , t h e We ems Y. M. C. A. 
Wha t th0 hell do we c aro what p e opl e say, 
F o r we a re , we aro , we are , t he We0ms Y . M. C. A. 

Van g r a duated f rom Ann apol is on June 7, 1 91 2 . He 

stood 61 i n a class of 1 56. This t ied him wi t h Ri chard E . 

Byrd, later o f polar explorat i on fame, in clas s s t anding . 

20 111 911 Di ary" Weems collection, Tenne ssee State 
Lib r a r y and Archive s , Ma nuscr ip t Division. 

21 Lucky Bag, u. s.N.A. Yearbook for 1912, P• 133. 
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Attending the ceremony was Cousin Loch, his son Collier 

Cook, and Van I s brother-in-law, Mr. John Alvin Slayden. 

Senator Taylor had planned to attend. He had promised Van 

during a visit to his apartment at Stoneleigh Court in 

De cember, 1911, that he ~uld "paint the town" when his 

fa rm-boy from Tennessee graduated. Senator Taylor die d on 

March 31, 1912 , after an operation for gallstones. 22 

After graduation Van returned to Tennessee for a vis it 

with his family before reporting to his first duty station. 

June 13, 1912 - I am thankful to say that I 
graduated wi t h my class on June 7th and that now I 
am enjoying miself here at Sister's home in Waverly 
( Tanna a see). 23 

Van left Tennessee several days before he waa scheduled 

to report for duty aboard the newly commissioned battle ship 

u.s.s. Nor_~h_Dak-9ta. He wanted to pick up his new tailored 

unifonns and meet in New York City his classmates who were 

shipping aboard the North Dakota with him ao that they might 

report aboard ship toge ther. 

22JOJT1es P., Alf A., and Hugh L. Taylor, Life .. and Career 
of Robert Love Taylor. The Bob Taylor Publishing Co., 
NashviTie, Tennessee, 1913. 

23111911" Diary. Tennessee State Library and Arohives, 
Manuscript Division. 



EARLY SERVICE 

The 1912 Annapolis class was the first to graduate 

wi th a commission to the rank of Ensign. Previous classe s 

had graduated as "Past Midshipmen" in which rank they 

sorved fo r two years . Van's f irst duty assignment was 

aboard the n e wly commissioned battleship , USS North Dako t a, 

unde r t h e command of Captain H.B. "Tugboat" Wilson. 

Cradit for this outstanding initial assignment is given to 

the Cap t ain's daughter, Ruth Wilson. During Mammy's senior 

year , Ruth attended a football game at Annapolis. Afte r 

the game Mannny and several of his buddies were talking to 

t he lovely sixteen year old redhead. One of them said, 

"Ru t h , ask your old man to get us aboard ship with him. " 

They gave her the names of those who wanted to serve under 

her father. To their ple asant surprise, she passed the 

wo rd on to her father, and orders were sent to Annapolis 

prior to graduation to report for duty at the Brooklyn Navy 

Yard in early July, 1912. 

When Van, "Fats" Elmer, Greenman and several more of 

his buddies reported in full dress with gloves and sword, 

lrnterviaw with P. v. H. Weems conducted by Mr. John 
T. Mason, Naval Institute, Annapolis, Maryland, on April 1, 
1969. 
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it was one of the hottest days in July. Workers in the 

ya rd smiled as they saw the ne w officers marching toward 

t heir ne w ship. when they repo rted to the officer of the 

de ck, they were told to report to the personnel office 

buildi ng five blocks away. The new ensigns trooped back 

ac ross the docks dragging thelr s words . The personnel 

office checked off their names and instructed them to make 

the third trip through the yard. By the time they reache d 

t h e ir junior officer quarters aboard ship, they were washed 

down with sweat, feeling like plebe s aftor their "parade" 

t hrough the Brooklyn Navy Yard. 2 

Mammy h ad mixed emotion s about his duty assignment on 

the North Dakota. He wa nted line duty on deck standing 

watch with the captain. But his assig nmen t was ass istant 

e ng i neer unde r the supe r vi sion of the chief engineer, 

Commander J. o. Fisher. The North Dakota had the first 

"Curtiss turbine engines" installed on a Navy ship. Captain 

Wils on, trained as a young officer on sailing ships, knew 

very lit t le about steam engines and allowed Commander Fisher 

a "free" hand. 3 

2rnterview with P. v. H. Weems conducted by Mr. John 
T. Mason, Naval Institute, Annapolis, Maryland, on April 1, 
1969. 

3rnterview with P. V. H. Weems, Ibid. 
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Va n had t wo challenges . One was work ing with Comma nder 

Fi sher on finding the c orre c t chemical mixtures to keep the 

t urbi ne blades f r om rusting . Within a few years commercial 

fi rm s woul d develop the chemicals based on recommen dation s 

f r om t h e North Dako t a and o t her ships with steam engines . 

The s econd chall e nge was to meet the writing requirements 

o f h i s bo ss . Commander Fisher required Van to keep a 

jou rn a l a nd wr ite each week an original thesis on some phas e 

of t h e operation and function of the engine room . He wa s 

not a llowed to sketch and desc ribe . This wri ti ng require ­

ment f ormed a good foundati on for Van ' s Naval writing caree r. 

In f u t ure years Van woul d wri t e down everything he was 

plan ni ng to do , startin g with the objective of t he project . 

Next he woul d l ist the facts or issues bearing on the sub­

je c t a nd finally the logic for his conclusions . 

After a cruise in 1913, the North Dakota anchored at 

Newport , Rhode Island. Invi tat ions were received aboard 

t he battleship North Dakota for several young officers to 

atte nd various parties given by some of the prominent 

families for the debutantes. Mammy and several of his ship­

mates attended a masquerade party given by Mrs. Stuyvesant 

Fish. Being in the Navy, the young ensigns arrived a few 

minutes before the party was scheduled to begin. None of 

t h e young officers had attended a masquerade ball before. 

. "h k h II While the ensigns were standing around, a us Y cap 
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e n tered the room dressed as a doorman. small talk was 

exchanged between the "doormo.n" and the young officers 

about the party, the cost , etc. Mammy was entrigued by hi s 

ma nner and his friendliness and asked him directly, "Say , 

who are you anyway, are you the chamberlain?" The 

"chamberlain" turned ou t to be Mr. Fish. Mammy was kidded 

by his classmates, but they had a grand time. Mr. and Mrs. 

Fish could not have been nicer and extende d invi tations for 

othe r parties whenever the ship was in port.4 

Van was call ed a "beach hound" by his shipmates. At 

ovary opportunity he would go ashore. When the ship was in 

Ne w York, he made a special poi nt to attend plays and enjoy 

life in general. At Annapolis Van was known as the "King 

of Fussers " or the champion dater of ladies. He was 

interested in people. He was careful to learn their name 

and as much as he could about a person the first time that 

he was introduced to him. His popularity in Annapolis and 

his athletic achievements opened many doors to social 

events. Mammy did not drink at parties, but this did not 

p revent him from being a good mixer and an excellent con­

versationalist. He liked to gather up some of his friends 

and eat out. One "mistake" he made, as an ensign, was going 

to the Century Grove, a restaurant on the roof of the Century 

4Interview with P. v. H. Weems, April 1, 1969, Ibid. 



The atre, for r e freshmen t s af te r attendi ng the opera. The 

t ab was eight e e n doll a r s for a party o f four. Thi s was 

mo re than Van coul d aff ord o n hi s salary. 

Many of Va n' s c l assmate s and fri e nds were ge tti ng 

married . 'Ihis did no t wo rry Van a s much a s t h e f a ct tha t 
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he coul d no t decide wha t love was all a bou t and which girl 

he wa n ted to date . Van was a "go od catch" b y all social 

sta nd ards ; col l ege g raduate , All-Ame r ic an footb all p l a ye r , 

i n te lligent , etc . He was in tro duc e d t o s ome very "eligible " 

y oung ladie s in top social circles . 

I hav e bee n havi ng s ome i n teresti ng times social l y . 
I was prese n ted t o Mis s Hel e n Taft at a reception 
last mon th . Al s o I met t h e Governor ' s niece , Miss 
Gol ds b orough, and like d her imme n sely . Miss Weedham, 
Co ngressman We e dl:].am 1 s daughter ( Cal .) wa s my part ner 
at the las t h op . 5 

Van had no t forgotten Te nnessee , a nd espe cially the young 

l ad ies that he k ne w there . 

Whi l e at h ome this leave I met se vera l g irl s that I 
l i ke r eal we ll, and s ome o f my old f rie nds I l ike 
better t han e ver, bu t the r e s e ems to b e s ome thing 
l a cking . That is , I d o n' t love any of them. Some ­
t imes I think t ha t I have n't e nough confidence i n 
girl s but at t h e same t i me , I have see n enough of 
t hem in the last ye a r or s o to make anyone los e con ­
f idence in lots of t hem. Wle n you can me et a g i rl a nd 
b e wi th h er only a li t tl e while before you can fool 
with her in mo st any way you care to, i t cause s you 
to stop and ponder awhile . You ask yourself, "Is 
the ordinary g irl virtuous and true?" Usually I have 
the utmost confidence in mos t girls, but I have been 

Sp. v. H. Weems, 1912 Diary, Tennessee S t ate Library 
a nd Archives, Manuscript Divis i on. 



with a few presumabl y nice girls tha t caus e me to 
~ant t~ become familiar with a girl as soon as I ge t 
in the ir company. Myrtl e Loggins is one girl t h a ~ 
I have a lo t of r~spect for , /U.ma Cook is all right 
in my estima t ion .6 
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In April 1914, Van was ordered to the survey ship USS 

Leo nid as , whi c h was sche dul e d to survey the en t rance to the 

ne arly completed Panama Canal . Diary e n trie s reflect d a i l y 

r ou t ines wi t h an occasional en t ry that refl e cte d domesti c 

a nd world events . 

Ap ril 22 , 1914 - Got unde rway at noon •••• I am 
j u s t starting my career as a watch officer. Whe n a 
light is sight ed , Take i t s bearing , note the time, 
read the log and report t o the Navigator . Colors 
come down at sunset, lookout in masthe ad lays in, a nd 
running lights are turne d on. Law has been passed 
that a b olishes liquor a board ship . Officers on board 
are kicking like horse s . 
May 1 2 , 1914 - ••• somohow I don ' t s eem to be able 
to stand rough weather a s most of the other fellow s 
do . I b e gan to fe e l woozy on account of the long 
swells that are givi ng u s a considerable pitch . 
May 17, 1914 - Put in off icial reques t for tempora r y 
duty with the voluntee r I nfantry i n the event of 
hostili t ies with Mexico? ••• in accordance with t he 
late Volunteer Army Bill. 

Duty aboard the USS Leonidas was demanding when the 

ship was performing its survey duties for the U. S . Navy 

Hydrographic Office. 'Ihe coast line and entrance waters 

t o the Canal had never bee n surveyed. The exa ct depth of 

the water would be of primary importance t o ships maneu-

p C n 1 Van was assigne d to veri ng into and from the anama a a• 

6P. V. H. Weems, 1912 Di a ry, Ibid. 
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on e of the s u rvey launches , bu t he had plenty of shore time 

t o explo re the Can a l Zone , t o hunt , a nd date Miss Margare t 

Tha c lc ray , his brid e to be . 

Iay 1 5 , 1 91 4 - At 0500 nay Ho l land a nd I turned ou t 
to get an early start a cross the Isthmus . He arrive d 
a t Gatun Lake at about 0630 A. M. and stopped to see 
some barges passed th r ough the Canal . When we l earned 
t h a t t h e barg es we r e the f ir s t cor,unercial ve ssel s t o 
b o ~s n t . throu c;h the Cannl , we fors ook our con templated 
t r a i n _ i do t o ? a nana ( Ci t y ) and we nt through with the 
ba r g e 3 . 

May 21, 1 91 /~ - We n t hun 'c i. ng af t er 3 : 30 P . M. bu c fail ~d 
to ki ll a nythi~g . Howo vc r , wo saw tho na t ives poun d 
s ome co::1n in t o me al in t ho ol d primi ~i ve way . Th3 
na t ive s a re i n t e re~ t inr, t o me . 

Jun o 21, 1911+ - At O JOO ·"- • M. Ray Holland and I tu r nod 
ou ~ and c;ot unde rway wi.th the mo t or dory f o1• a hu n t inc; 
t rip near Gatun . He l a nded at the locks and walkod 
ove r i n to tho jung l e beyo nd the spillway fo~ abou t 
three mile s . After we had gotte n down into the swrunp 
an d kept qui e t and s t ill for awhile near a nut t r ee . 
I killed a squirre l . The n I no ticed a slight nois s 
and g lanced through t h e bushes and there were six o r 
eight peccaries (wi l d hoc;s) t rooping along in sing l3 
file . I whisp ered "p i gs ," and Ray and I op e ned fi re . 
Each of us shot on e immediately , then I tried ons more 
in the bunch a s it r an within a few feet of me . I 
whe e led and gave him a parti ng shot, gues3ing his 
location. I couldn ' t see him plainly . Then I turned 
and pumpod ano ther sho t into the o ne I had first sho t 
as he was trying to ge t away . When I shot this time , 
he turned a nd heade d fo r me . I don ' t k n ow his inten­
t ions , bu t I do k now tha t I stopped h im wlth my last 
shell whe n he wa s a bout te n fe et away . 'Ihe next 
quest i o n was to get them back t o t h e shi p . ~ach pig 
weighed a b out f o rty - t h re e p ounds a nd three miles wa s 
a l o n8 way . 

Wh en we g o ·~ to t h e ship we l e ft t h o p i g s in the 
dory and d r agged ab o ard with the squirrel in orde-: t o 
g ive our me s s ma t e s a cha nce to rag u s a bi t . This 
t hev d i d Harry M. McCl oy said I was charged up wi t h .; • . hi · t t h e shells we had b e en wa s t ing . After t elling m J. 

was poor sportsmanship fo r the mess, I asked him i! 
he would be wi lling to pay for any fresh meat we migh t 



get up . "Yes , I ' ll give you te n cents a pound fo,-, 
~l y ou get . ". I ve rified his statement by repeati ng 
J.~ once or twice an d then sent down and got the two 
wi l d hogs . Ole McCloy wa s taken down a bit l 7 
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On the l+th of July 1 911.~, the Canal autho!'i t ies sponsorod 

a bi g cele b ra t ion and da nco . Mammy went asho re in dress 

wh.i. ~8 s . Whe n he foun d ou t t h -:t t one of the featu red 

act ivities wa s an aquatic wr03tling ma tch, h e mad0 up his 

r!i :.i d t hat he wan ted t o e nter t h e e vent . The mat was a 

fourtee n f oot square f loa t covered with grease . The only 

rul 0 was that the last man a board won the ma t ch . Van' s 

app::>oach was t o d i g towa r d t ho center and no t "f ight 11 un t ll 

onl y three or four remained aboard . There were twen ty to 

thi rty aboard, i n cludinc sailors , civilians and a couple 

of p rofessional wre stle rs . Va n won the event, bu t allowed 

t h o next to last man aboard , a sailo r from hi s own ship , to 

collAct the cash p rize of twen t y -five dollars . 

The ne xt challa nge was to c l e an off the gre as e and 

d r e ss back in t o h is whites . There were no s hower facili t ies 

avai lable . He idped the g re ase off his hair and sunbu r ne d 

body the best h e could and ro-dressed. He walke d over to 

t he dan ce and s aw a y ouns lady t ha t his roommate , Red 

Sowe ll , had "dr agged 11 to a coup le of Annapolis "hops , " 

Margaret Thaclcray . He r e cognized he r and said, "Marg are t 

7 H t .r "1914 11 Diary, 11 Tennessee State Li b rary P • V. • ~v e ems , 
a nd Ar chi ves , Manuscri pt Di vision. 
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Thackrey, what you you doing here?" Her answer was, "I'm 

married and 11 ving here." Sh n1 ki e was o y dding P. v. H., 

as she called him, but it took awhile to convince Van that 

sh e wasn't married. 

Margaret introduced P. V. H. to her host and hostess, 

Mr . and Mrs. ''Happy 11 Pearce. Van immediately started com­

peting wi t h the high paid civilian engineers and the other 

bachelor naval officers for dates with Miss Thackray. 

Additional details of their dates and the details of their 

marriage are contained in Chap ter eight. 8 

Day after day Van worked aboard his small boat with a 

crew of about ten sailors moving up and down the coast 

taking depth measurements by hand and "shooting" the po si ­

t ions. This duty gave him the backg round needed for 

handling navigation instrume nt s in later years, and instilled 

the need for complete accuracy in recording the sighting 

obt ained with instrument s. 

When the survey work was completed, Van was assigned 

to the new battleship, USS Nevada. (This is one of the 

battleships that was sunk at Pearl Harbor on December 7, 

194)..) One of his duties was to command one of the main 

gun turrets. In one of the service practices, his turret 

Brnterview with Mrs. P. v. H. Weems, on April 17, 1973, 
in Annapolis, Maryland. At age 82, she has good recall. 



made nine shots, scoring nine hits in a minute and fort y 

s econds. This was considered to be a world record at that 

t ime . 9 
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In June 1917, Van was promoted to Lieutenant Senior 

Grade and transferre d to the USS Georgia to train gun crews 

f or merchant ships. Ten months later he was transferred 

to the troop transport, Orizaba. This ship made six trips 

with troops from April to November 1918. During this period 

the Orizaba stood number two in the transport service. Va n 

was awarded a le t ter of Connnendation for quick t urn-arounds 

and ship upkeep as Chief Engineer. From the Orizaba, h e 

wa s ordered to the USS Murray, a new destroyer on convoy 

du t y, and remained aboard this ship until shortly after the 

Armistice. 

A few days ai'ter the armistice was signed, Van met his 

brother, Hatton, in Franca. Hatton had graduated with the 

f irst war class from West Point on April 20, 1917, and 

immediately entered active duty with the 9th Infantry 

Regiment at Syracuse, New York. Hatton was sent into the 

World War in France as a member of this unit on September 

5, 1917. He commanded a machine gun company near Verdun 

from March 15 to May 2, 1918. In July 1918 he distinguished 

9 f P V. H. Weems 11 .furnished by Weems "Naval Record o • 
& Plath, Inc., Annapolis, Maryland. 



himself b y extraordinary heroism in action at Chateau 

Thierry during the Allied drive on Vaux. He was awarded 

t he Distinguished Service Cross. 1O 
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Van invited Hatton as his guest to mako a "short run" 

t o England aboard the Murray. The crew had been given a 

short leave in Plymouth, England. On December 9, 1918, a s 

t h e ship was returning to France, the Division navigator 

mis read a light and signaled t he destroyers to turn. 

Se veral of the destroyers ran aground. Van was in the 

e ngi n e room when the rocks ripped open a hole in the fire 

ro om and the forward engine room. The signal from the 

bridge nashed, "full speed ahead . " The ice cold wat e r had 

killed the steam in t he engine, and there was no p ower to 

move the ship . Then the signal was flashed, "full speed 

astern ." One of the crewmen swam across the flooded room 

a nd pulled open the low pressure steam valve and the ship 

backed off the rocks. 

The next problem was to stop the water that was pouring 

into the engine room. Van, being the strongest swimmer, 

personally drove the wooden wedges into the holes in the 

metal deck. The engine room was pumped, and some power wa s 

obtained from the main steam engine. Van went to the bridge 

lOstanley J. Folmsbee, Robert E. Corlew, and Enoch L. 
Lewi s Historical Publishing Mitchell, History of Tennessee~ · 

Co., Inc., New York, 1966, P• ~76. 



to e xplain to the Captain 1-my he could not go .forward when 

the skipper signaled "f'ul.l speed ahead. 11 Th ki es pper gave 

Van one of the few compliments he ever received while 

assigned to the ship, ''You did damn well to back off, 

Weems . 1111 
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Van's next assignme nt was with a sister destroyer, the 

O'Brien, as Executive Officer and Navigator wi th the new 

rank of Lieutenant Commander. This was Mammy's first 

official assignment with navigation, and it marked an up­

ward trend in his "fitness ratings." 'Iha O'Brien wa s 

assigne d the duty of picket ship for the first Atlantic 

crossing by an airc r aft, the NC-4. 

Lieutenant Commander Philip Van Horn Weems , one-time 
Tennessee farm boy, scanned the skies from the deck 
of his ship just off the Azores . It was May, 1919, 
and the world stood on tiptoe for news of the first 
airplane night across the Atlantic . 

Weems was navigato r of the u.s .s . O'Brien, one 
of the ships strung out at fifty mile intervals 
from Newfoundland to Portugal t o stake out a path 
for the three Navy seaplanes making the try . Two 
had already dropped out by the time they had reached 
the Azores. 

"Suddenly the plane came up over us, 11 Weems 
said, "It was a great thrill. 11 From ~hat mom.eni~ Weems 
caught the vision that would change his career. 

The official world record established by the flight of 

the NC-4 is listed as the first transatlantic night by 

11Interview with P. v. H. weems, April 1, 1969, Ibid. 

12Louise Davis,~ Nashville Tennessean, May 29, 
1966, p. 16. 
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Lt . Cdr . Albert C. Read and c rew in a Curtiss Flying Boat, 

NC-4 , f rom Ne wf o un dland, to Lisbon, Po~tugal, on May 1 6 to 

2 7 , 1919.
13 

As navigator o f t he O'~rie.E._, Van had the 

respo ns ibili ty for the e xact location of his ship. The 

fl i ght was delayed seve r al daya wai ting f o r favorable wind 

and water condi t ion s for the ai rcraft to take o ff f rom the 

refueling stop in the Azores . During this wait, Van 

worked continually trying to compu te the exact location of 

his ship as i t slowly steamed on station . This delay an d 

t ho import ance of his duty f ocused Van's attention on tho 

p rob lem of ai r and sea navigat ion . 

After several short stretches of duty aboard o ther 

ships that were being place d i n the "moth-ball fle et , 11 

Van was put "ashore" as the recruiting officer fo~ the 

State of Maryland with his offi ce in Baltimore. He took 

t his duty very seriously and quickly learned tha t the key 

to recruiti ng was publicity. In an effor t to obtain "free" 

publicity, Van accep t ed a challenge to wre stl e one of the 

local "champion 11 wrestlers that worked at the Baltimore Sun 

ne wspaper. Van had been wrestling at the Y. M. C. A. to 

stay in shape and was no t afraid to wrestle anyone near his 

si ze. Van threw the challenger so quickly that it was sug­

gested that he enter the south Atlantic Amateur Wrestling 

---·---------
13N · d R McWhi"rtar, Guiness Book of world orris an ass 

Rec~rds, Bantam Books, New York, 1973, P• 319. 



Championship that was scheduled to b e hel d in Baltimore in 

a few months. 

Mammy won the 175 pound class championship at the 

me et and was invited to try out for the 1920 Ol ympic Team. 

He made the team as an alternate and Naval-officer- in­

charge and went to the 7th Olympiad in Ant werp. 

I failed t o get a crack in the Olympic wrestling . 
Johnson (Amateur Champ 1 917) and Fairty (the fellow 
that won from me in New York) went in . As they tied 
for 3rd place , and as I practically tied Fairty in 
New York, I might have come out 3rd o r 4th had I g o t 
i n. It is a disappoint me nt to me not to have g o tten 
into the game, for I gave up my recrui t ing job to 
ge t over here . Howeve r , if a man stay s in the 
athletic game long enough, he mus t finally mee t with 
reversals and when that t ime comes the good sport 
will consider it all in the game and make the most 
of it . That is wha t I am trying to do . I judged 
and refereed two o f the e limination bout s . 1 4 

Upon his return from Antwerp , Van was ordered to duty a s 

na vigator of the USS Roches t e r, a cruiser that was the 

nagship of the special service squadron based in the Canal 

Zone . As navigator Van was given higher ratings by his 

senior officers that he had received in the past. But he 

had already become known as a n officer who "forgets the 

detail s . 11 Whe n his wife arrived in Panama to establish 

their home, Van was restricted aboard ship because he "for­

got to send the boat ashore to pick up the Captain while he 

was watch officer. 1115 

lL~Letter from P. v. H. Weems to Gen. G. H. Weem~, dated 
September 16 1920, Tennessee State Library and Archives, 
Manuscript nlvision. 

15rntarview with Mrs. P. v. H. Weems, April 17, 1973, Ibid . 



6o 

Van had continued his writing and was successful in 

getting a number of items published in the Naval Institute, 

a semi-official Naval publishing facility . Writing articles 

f o~ publication was a natural extension to his training 

under Commander J. o. Fisher . 'lhe Naval Institute off ered 

a "cash prize" of two hundred dollars f or the be st essay on 

''handling personnel . 11 Van wrote his article and sent i t 

t o the Institute . But i n the next i ssue of the magazine , 

t h e list of those tha t had en t ered the con ~est appeared. 

Van forgo t abou t hi s chance 0 1 winning when he saw the 

namos of several of the HaV7r 1 : Admirals and Cap t ains t hat 

had r>eputations as e xcellan '.:; uriters . To Van's surpri s e, 

ha was notified that he had wo n the contest, but he could 

not do much advertisement of t he fact because of the "big 

narne s 11 that had entered the co ntest. As the winne r , Van 

was offered the job of retu rn i ng to the Academy and "fle s h ,: 

ou t his essay into a book that would be u sed by the Academy 

t o teach the midshipmen how to "handle personnel . " Van 

officially was assig ne d to the Academy in the department of 

Navigation.16 

While at the Academy another navigation i nstructor , 

Lt . J. G. Gingrich, pointed out to Mammy some Japanese 

ing "Here is a sweet way of computing 
Navigation tables, s ay , 

16 Capta1.·n P. v. H. Weems, April 1, 1 969 , 
Interview with 

Ibid. 
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t he altitude . 11 

Van saw the importance of the method a nd 

e nthusiastically suppo r ted Gingrich in t h e i d.ea o f 

exploi t i ng t he me thod . 1 7 The y publ ishe d , wi t h t h e au t ho :r• 1 ~ 

pe rr11i ss ion , t h e Japanese table s in English with s ome ~ o di­

r ic a t ion s . Van a n d Gi· n · h t r, ric ne such sharp resistance f r oM 

s eni o ~ offico rn t ha t Gi nGrich d ropped t he pro je c t r a t h er 

t han j eop ard ize h i s Nava l car0or . Va n s howe d h i s 

" stu bbor•nnes :::: " and ref'u ~ed ~o Give up once h e was c onvln cod. 

:,h a t t h e t a b le s would imp rove navigation a l methods . Van 

co n t i nue d c o rework t he t a b l e :: an d t he se effo r t s launch ed 

:1i n a s a pione e r in the f i el c. of aeri a l rrnvig a t i o n . 

Sickness and fa t e a lso p layed an imp ort an t r ol e i n 

Cap t ain We ems ' navigati onal li f e . 

I n June 192 6 I was orde re d t o the USS HOPKINS , a 
duty that I desire d . J u n t a b ou t the tirno I was to 
leave Annap oli s - wi t h a ticke t bough t , etc ., I had 
a s tomach hemorrhage , (c a used b y a duo denal ulce ~) 
which wa s a s u rpri n0 and a disappoi n t me n t . I wa3 
kep t in the h o 3p i t al s e ve ral weeks , an d t h e docto rs 
recommended that I not b e se n t to sea for one year . 
'T'his hel d 1110 over a t Annupolis o ne year, the n I wen t 
to t h e USS FARQUHAH a ncl brough t her to t he west 
coast . The day I arrivo u at San Diego I we n t to t h e 
hospital wi th a re cu r r ence o f the same trouble . In 
fact a hemorrhage o f the s t omach occurre d abou t two 
or t hree d a ys before I re ached San Dieg o . I did no t 
suffer , or fe e l sick, y e t I was scared and knew enou[Y'l 
t o g o easy . 

I asked that the FARQUHAR be held. f or me , bu t 
this reoue s t was no t granted . F inally after Starr 
King had take n comrr.and o f the FARQUHAR, I b ecame 

-- - -----·-·--· 
17Le s lie w. Bake r , Unpublished p aper, '~istory of Weere~ 

Sy0tem of Navig ation ," undated, P • 3. 



in torostod i n my hobby of navigation , partly i n solf­
dofe n se to keop f r om r o t Li n~ in the ho~pital . I 
l~opt b':1sy o n th~t, a n d finall y n.sl:ed for tompor·ar~/ 
du t y w1Lh the /\1.rcraft 0'7.uo.dr-on s [ sic] Battle l•'leot , 
where I had convaloscen1. leave and started to worJ., 
on aerial n avi gat i on rc~oarc h . 1 ~ 

Van ror,1ained in he hospital f'or almost s ix months in ~~an 

Die[;o , Cal5-fornia . His famil ~r r e-located to nearb y 

Coronado , Califo:-n i a . Mammy f o un d i t very dif'ficul t to 

~est quietl y in the hospital bod . He worked navigation 

~1 Poblems me n tall y and late on paper to keep himself bu s:f 

a nd to keep his mind or~· hi:-; physical problem . Thi~ 

"hospital time" f ormed a b aGi :: for the data fo l ' Van I s firs t 

bool:: Lino of Position Boole , pu bli she d in 1 927 , that '------- ---------· 
propelled h im i n to the limelicht as a "naviGationul expe r·t . " 

- - -- ----- - · 
8 H \-I oems to Lt• Commander H • 

1 Letter from P . V. • T 
0 

s~ate Library 
9 1930 ennesse v Goo c. dated February , , 

Archives , Manuscrip t Division . 

H. 
an d 
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Wh i le in t h e U. s . Uaval Ho spi tal i n San Di ego , van 

worked on se veral n avigational i tems t ha t he had thought 

of whil o t eachi ng navigation at Annapol is . He had 

noticed that the midshipme n were h avi nc a grea t deal of 

t rou ble fin ding the Greenwich Mean Time . To help the 

11 ,-rood.en midshipme n, 11 Van t h ouc ht up the idea of pu tting 

a no t her stem o n a watc h . This would e nable the midship­

mu n accu ratel y to " re-so t 11 the se con d sweep hand the same 

way the hour and minute h ands we r e " re - set . 11 Whe n Van 

~howed hi s " t wo-stennned" wat ch drawing t o hi s father-in­

law,l h e wa s e ncou r a ged to work out the bug s and a pply fo r 

a pate n t . Wh en Van s tarte d working on the gear ratio s , he 

foun d t h at the ratio o f t he speed of the s econ d-ha nd to 

the hour- hand was s o g reat that the secon d-hand could no t 

be s e t wi t h a stem in the u sua l way tha t h our and minut e 

h and s were "se t . " The fi nal desig n was a devi ce to read 

the accu r at e time directl y from t he wa tch fac e . 

Wh e n you set a watch, you c a n a dju st the h our and 
minu te hands , but the se cond h and sweep s on 
i r revocably . To the l ayma n it is no t i mp o rtant if 

lGe o rge E . Thack ray , pate ~ t engi?ee r a s well a s a 
r.-ietallurgical and chemical enc; i no (:}J' a c Bethlehem St e~l 
au L~hor of Cambria Steel. - - ---- - - ---

Co., 



~ts wat ~h is two n ty seconds of£ . To t h o navi~at
0

~ 

i can 0 a ma t t e r_ of l i.fe nnd doat h . So navic;ato r-:..: , 
whe n t~o y synchroni zed t heir watcl10 3 with observa­
tor! timo , use d to make a no to of how many socondn 
t~ei r s weep hand was of~ . This facto r plus o r 
mi nu s , had to be figu red in t o every cal.culatio n thoy 
made on a voyage . 

Weems mounted a mova bl e rim on h i s watch 
marked the sixty seconds on i t and si nce h e ~as 
unable to adjust the second hand t; the watch face 
he simply adjusted the face t o t he hand . 2 ' 

'I1l1i s device wa s so s imple that many of Mammy ' s navigatlon 

f r ie nds wer0 3ayi nb , "It I s 30 simple, I shoul d have thour;h~ 

of tha t . " 

From t he hosp i t al bod , Van wrote to t h e Uni t ed 3 ta t o s 

J aval Institu te 3 and reques t ed t hat the y publish hi s boo >:: 

of tables , Line __ of Posi tion s Book. 'Ibe y agreed to publ ish 

t he book unde~ one o f the most unusual con tracts eve r 

i ssu ed b y the In stitu te : "the autho r agrees to guarantee 

th e Haval Institute against loss , and will allow the 

Institu t0 fifty percen t of the profi ts, if any. " The 

publication cost wa s estimated to be n0arly three thousand 

dollars . This caused Van to s tudy seriously the navigat ion 

book market. He finally decided tha t he wanted to be t h e 

"daddy of a book" an d put the family fin a nces on the l i n e . 

Whe n Van had recove re d e nough t o be pu t on a " sippy" die t , 

2Michael Kernan, The Washington Pos t , December 1 2 , 
1968 , p. Fl. 

II • ff. . l " JThe Unite d State s Naval Ins t itute i s a _sellll.-? ic i a 
non-profit Naval organization that prints articles in a 
monthly magazine. Naval rela t ed books and papers are al s o 
P r inted. 
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h e was g i ven a c onvalosce n t l e ave an d allowe d to j oin h i s 

fami l y i n Co r o nado, Cali f o rni· ~. H t i 
~ econ nued t o us e hi s 

hobb y of na vigation to keep h is mi nd occup ie d . His name 

wa s be c omi ng as s ociated wi th aeri al navigation by tho naval 

assi8 nme nt off i ce r s in 1/ash i nci;ton . Th · d h . ey as s i g ne im t o 

t he Has t Coast Battl e Fl eet , Ai rc r a f t Squ adron s , a s navig a ­

t ion r es earch of f ice r . 

One of t ho f i r st thi n~ ~~ t h a t Van di d 1.-The n he r epor t ed 

t o duty was to che ck ou L·· a ::;c .;ctan t . 'Ihe noxt thine he 

no t 5.ce d was that t h e ::i e xtan t i,a s ina c cu rate . A s tri ppe d 

t hP0 ad caused the s e xtan t to be seve r-al hundre d mil 0s of .r 

i n t he r e adi ng . Van wa s abl e t o r epa ir t he inst rume nt 

himself a nd starte d work ing on a way to modify i t to m~ ~e 

i t u s eful t o the air naviBa t o r . 

Adndral J . M. Reeves , comma nde r of the Bat t l e Fl e e t 

Ai 2., craft Squ adron , allowe d Van a "f re e han d. " i n navig a t ion 

re search . \fue n Van asked him i f h o could modify a " t o rpedo 

boa t wat ch " with a second set t ing f eature , the Admi ral 

i mrnodiate l :r au t ho r i zed the paymaster t o g5_ve Van eighty 

· Van h ad fai·led t o ,_. nf or, Iin ~-he dol lars f o r the modifica t ion . v 

1\dmi r a l that t he Naval Ob s e r va tory had al ready t urne d h i s 

i don down. J essup Je we l ers in San Di e go mod i f ie d the wa t ch . 

Pho t ograph s were take n a nd se n t to the Nava l Ob servat ory . 

rrh c watch wa s f inally a ccepte d by t he Naval Observato r y a3 

"u s e f ul.11 In re ce nt years naviga t ors a nd avi a t ors purch a s ed 
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"navigator" wat ches with a "bezel" ri·ng without k nowinc; 

that Mammy Weems o rigi nated the idea. The Thomas Gray 

Award, giv e n b y the Royal Society o f Arts , wa s presented i n 

later years to Captain Weems f o r hi s second setting watch . 

Using hi s improved sextant , the second setti ng watch, 

and the Line of Position tabl 0 s , Van had a completely 

di ffere n t method of navigation . The "Weems Sys tem" requi red 

t " h .L II f' th wo S.1 Ous o_ e sun, accur ate time, and the t ables to 

fi nd a p o s i tion. All previou s systems requ ired extensi v0 

calculations and the us e o f mathemat ical formulas . 

Van had made the mathema t ical calculation s and graph0d 

t he results in the Lino of Po :-~ition t ables. The "Weems 

System" was extended to "'lll0 Weems System of Havigation . 11 

Van was no t one t o shy away from publicity . At 

Annapolis, his year book state s that his "greatest delight 

is havi ng his picture take n." As recruiting officer in 

I1aryland, he l earne d that i t paid t o become k nown b y as 

many people as possible, and the easiest way to become known 

is t o stay in the news and write abou t current even ts . Van 

co n s idered that news coverage or written a rticl es were much 

more valuable than p urchase d advertisement space. Hith 

t his basic philosophy , Van in c reased his writins output, 

concentrating on his navig ational ideas and equipne nt . 

"f · t for sea duty, 11 he wa s When Van was pronounced i 

assigned to the fuel ship, Cuyam.a. After he had shipped to 
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20 a, requ ests for his navigational items continued to 

a rrive at his home. Mrs. Weems was forced to buy a li conse 

a nd f orm the Weems System of Navigation Company in order 

t o s ell the navigational 1.·tems. So f th me o e money r equ ired 

to f orm the company crone from a mortgage given on the small 

home in Coronado. Mrs. Weems continued to run the c ompany 

with the help of Mr. Rodney Stokes and other off ice 

nan age rs . This arrangement side-stepped the problem of 

Captain Weems doing busine ss with the u. s. Governmen t }Jhile 

o n a ctive duty with the u. s. Navy. 

Several weeks before being transferred to the Cuyam~ , 

Van was at the local airfield waiting for a flight wi th one 

of the fleet pilots to work on aerial navigation when h e 

no ticed Colonel Charles Lindbergh waiting in his plane near 

the hangar. Van walked up to the p lane and said, "Colone l 

Lindbergh, I would like to show you my sextant and watch. " 

Li ndbergh, who had a scientific mind, took the sext an t a nd 

l ooked through the eyepiece. He said, " Connnander, I am 

very much interested in this; I would like to get together 

with you on it. 11 The conversation lasted a few minutes 

longer, and Colonel Lindbergh turned his attention to hi s 

airplane. Van thought that he would not hear from Colonel 

L . as he walked b ack to the f leet aircraft. 4 indbergh again 

LL .... rith Captain p. v. H. Weems by Naval · Interview .., .... 
I nstitute . Op . Cit . 
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Abo a r d the Cuyarna , Van p o rfo rrne d h is du t i e s as 

.-~xe cu t i ve Officer . After duty wh ile the othe r off icer-s 

p layed b ridge or talked , h e worked on a parall e l proj e c t 

to t he Li n e o f Position. The new pro je c t cal led "Sta r 

Al titu d e Curve s " woul d allow t he na vigator t o f ind h i s 

pos i t ion at n i g h t usi n 8 the s t ars . He us e d e very opp o r ­

tuni ty to t alk a bou t his n aviGatio n pro jects . When the 

Cuyama was f u e ling the Admi ral I s ship , he would g o ab o e.rd 

t he f l a g s hip a n d " shoo t a f i x " f or the Admiral. In s ome 

cases h e was well r e ceive d , an d i n o t hers he was dismi sse d 

ns a "navigation nu t . 11 Ile wa ~ no t a fra id t o t alk , " • •• 

Heems i s a man of great pe r 3onal i ty ••• e ven whi l e he 

t a l ks , a n d he can t a l k a nd o vo n t h ough y ou do no t a g ree , 

you fee l y ou mu s t l is te n ••• 11 5 

Hrs . \Jeems was s u rpri sed a t her off ice by a voice on 

all • II t he te l epho ne s a y inc , "Thi s i s t he White House c i ns . 

Hrs . We e ms , wh o had b een p l a gu e d vri t h crank phon e call s the 

past fe w we eks , a n s were d , " Oh y e s , thi s i s my l i ttl e gray 

hou se i n the Ue st a n s we r i ng . 11 Th e voice o n the other en d 

s aid , "Thi s i s seriou s . This i s Mr. Dawes 16 offi ce , a nd I 

5spee ch b y Mr Arthur Hu c hes , Oc t ober 13, 1936 , Lon don , 
• f c tin Weems . Te n nes see Eng l and a t a dinner in h onor O ap a . i . 

, . M nusc rip t Div s i on. State Library and Archives , a 

clo s e fr i e nd of Mr . 
6vice - Pre s iden -c Charl e s G. Dawe s , P. v . H. Weems in 

Li n coln Ell s worth who h a d s tudi ed wi t h 
Cali f orni a . 
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would like t o speak to Commander Weems abou t joining Colone l 

Lindbergh fo :.."' a series of ins t ruction on navigation . 11 Mrs . 

\v0ems quickly explained that her husband was at sea and 

gave the \mite House caller the correct duty address.? 

The Captain of the Cuyama was very unhappy to lose his 

exe cutive officer, who had orders to report to Washington 

innnediately to work with Colonel Lindbergh . 

Lindbergh makes a fi ne student. He bones till 
t welve or one o'clock a nd does no t get "fussed" o r 
rushed. I wen t a long wi t h him, and when we were 
in the air, wo could play along as we liked. d 

One o f the flights used i n trai ning was f rom Washing t on to 

D0troit. hhile Colonel Lindbergh was meeting wi th several 

people at the Ford Motor Conpany off ice, Van was left in 

the outer office. He was reading some t hing when he was 

tappe d on the shoulder , "Have you had lunch?" Van imnedi ­

at0l y recognized Henry F ord. 9 Van enjoyed the lunch and 

small talk wi th Mr. Ford. Wherever Van wen t with Colonel 

Lindbergh they ware mobbed by reporters wanting to wri te a 

story on the "Lone Eagle." 

Col. Charles A. Lindbergh today refused to discuss 
the nature of h is conference with Henry Ford and~· 
Edsel Ford at Dearborn yesterday. The transatlan ~ic 

?Mrs. P. v. H. Weems interview, April 17, 1973, Ibid. 

8Letter from p v H. Weems to Fairlamb, dated Jul! 
14, 1928, Tennessea•st;te Library and Archives, Manuscript 

Division. 

9 w1.· tll p. v. H. Weems, Naval Institute, Ibid. 
Interview 
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flyer arrived at Curti s s Fi e ld L I 1 t · ht 
.f t h t h d . , • •, as ni c; a er_w a e a s cribed a s an uneve n t ful t · f 

De tro ·, t H fl . . rip rom 
- • e_wa s yin~ his new Ryan Monoplane and 

was accomp ani e d b y Cap tai n P. v. H. Weems.10 

Van wa s k eenly aware of t he v a lue of having his namo linl:ed 

with tho worl d p opular Li n db e,.---gh. Ho imme diatel y b e g an to 

wri te art icles on " 'T'each i.nc; L~_ n db orgh to Navigate 1111 f o r· 

pu bli ci ty . Van an cl Colonel Li nd be rgh deve loped a mu tual 

respec t t hat led tho Colonel t o e n dorse tho Weoms Cystem 

of Navigat ion . A c opy of his letter printed on the back 

of a company advertisement is on page 1 29 . The publ ic i ty 

thA ~ fol lowe d tho Li ndbor~1 in s truction p eriod poin te d th0 

way fo p pioneer avi ato :;..,f; that needed a "shop-;; me thod of 

navigation 
11 

to the Weorn s S,.J s tem of Navigation. 

When Van r etu r n e d t o the We st Coast and du ty a bo~rd 

tho Cuyruna, he wo rkod f e verishly to complete t he star 

altitu de curves and s ta r ted a book on a i r n a v i ga tion . 

F inancing the star a ltitude curves p r oved mo r e di f ficul t 

than t he Line o f Po s i tion Boo~ which had e arne d the \le e ms 

f amily fi v e hundred dollars f or the first edition. This 

timo the cost of pri nting woul d a pproach fifteen t h ousand 

doll a r s . There wero no orde r~ f or the cur vBs, but Van 

hl.. s 1ne thod of navig ation and 11pro ssed believed in himself and 

on . 11 Fifteen hundre d o f the fif teen thousand had to be 

-------
lo (N Y k ) May 11, 1928. Pre ss Scimitar, ew or ' 

11Liberty, November 24, 1 928, P• 31 • 
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borrowed from Brother Hatton, Cousin Andrew Gennett, and 

Uncle F. A. M. Burrell. Lincoln Ellsworth , weal thy American 

sportsman and explorer, donated seven hundred dollars. The 

remainder of the money was obtained from bank loans, prof i t s 

from other navigational items, and family funds. 

The best-known graphical reduction method to appear 
between the wars was Weems' star curves ••• We ems ' 
patent application stressed that, with the curves 
less schooling was required of t h e aerial navigat~ r 
••• Gat t y ••• used the second edit i on of the 
star curves on h is world flight with Pos t and 
praised them.12 

Van, also, developed a na vigation ins trume nt of clear 

p lastic that he called the Mark II plot t er. 

The plotter was designed to do only two thing s, 
measure directions and distances, and to do thi s in 
the simplest possible fo rm . There is no accurat e 
record of how many have been produced for the Mili ­
tary, bft over a million have been sold commer­
cially. 3 

This "ruler device," toge the r wi th the table s and na vigation 

i ns truments, gave the family company a complete " sho r t 

me t hod of navigation" to marke t. To "build a market," Van 

au t horized navigation schools to teach his system and sell 

hi s equipment. He also developed a correspondence course 

t h a t was sold for a flat fee. Later he obtained the rights 

to the correspondence course and built it into one of the 

f i nancial pillars of the company. 

12Monte Duane Wright, Most Probable Posit!on, Th~6~~i6J. 
varsity of Kansas Press, Lawrence, Kansas, l97' PP• 

13"The Weems Story" by G.D. Dunlap, undated. 



Harold Gatty became associated with the we s - ems ystem 

of Navigation after a slight misunderstandine about a fee 

cha rged to his navigational school. "Mrs. We ems was mo s t 

f avorably impressed by young Gatty•s directness and good 

manners. 1114 He and Van collaborated on a drift indicator 
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a nd several other navigational devices. Because of the 

praise Gatty gave the Weems System of Navigation after his 

world flight with Wiley Post, Van was assigned t o the 

Hydrographic Office in Washington as an air navigation 

rosearcher. 

In 1931, McGraw-Hill published Van's book, Air Naviga­

t ion. It had taken Van almost two years t o write the draft . 

When he sent it to the publishing company, the editor 

returned it and requested that it be update d . Van had 

attempted to write on everything that was known concerning 

the navigation of aircraft. Navigation techniques and aids 

were beins changed and improved so rapidly that Van was 

afraid the book would be of little value. The book was 

recognized as the best technical book of the year in the 

United States, and won the Gold Medal given by the Aero Club 

of France. The book was selected from twelve United States 

books in competition and twenty-two French books. 1 5 

14speech by P. v. H. Weems, ''Harold Gatty as We Kne~. 
Him," Tennessee State Library and Archives, Manuscript Divi­
sion. 

1 ~ditorial, Baltimore Sun, August 20, l932 • 
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Young men with new ideas on navigation de vice s start ed 

coming to Mammy with ideas for d · a vice and development. The 

most profitable to the company th ·d were e 1 eas given by 

Lieutenant Philip Dal ton for the "Dalton c t 11 ompu· ers. Van 

convinced Dalton that the Weems System of Navigation could 

market his device better than he could continue to sell it 

by himself. Van agreed to an exorbitan t r-oyal ty of twenty 

percent. It turned out to be a good sound business decision 

because of its popularity. 

Van continued to seek publicity for hims elf and his 

company. He had kept in close contact with his classmate, 

Di ck Byrd. When ha learned that Dick was going to the 

South Pole, he made a spacial effort to supply him with his 

navigational equipme nt. 

When the Weems family moved East, Harold Gatty was 

appoin t ed manager of the Weems System of Navigation. 

Unfortunately, the profits wore not enough t o support 

Gatty's growing family. He had t o take on addi tional work 

and arrange for new financing, which he did partly wi th Mr. 

T. Clement. When Gatty recoivad an opportuni ty to work 

with Wiley Post, Mr. Clement took over the management. Mr. 

Clement had imagination, but not enough business ability 

to put across his sizeable projects of publishing a maga­

zine, promoting his book, and managing the Weems Sy3tam of 

Navigation. The Weems System of Navigation was floundering , 

and so was Van's Na.val career. 
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In Octobsr 1932 Van took command of the de st roye r 

USS Hopkins. Less than one year later, he was passed ove r 

for promotion and put on the retired list. 

The only regret is that it is no~ entirely volun t a ry 
(retirement in ~une, at age 44 on 62¼ of pay) 
although there is no onus attached to my retirement, 
and my record for 2 5 years in the Navy has been good. 
About 38% of my class aro being retired. I am 
leaving behind many friends, and a reco r d of which I 
am proud.16 

Va n was being pu t on t he "beach" at the worst po s sible time 

to ob t ain a job. The depress i on had hit the Uni t ed Sta te s , 

and business was very slow in the aviation fi e l d . 

Interviewed about six f irms ashore about business . 
Apparently it is at rock bottom. Mos t are me n t ally 
dep~essed. Have figured that our fixe d e xpe n s e s 
for interest, taxes, and insurance is about $218, 
while income starting in July will be $217.1 7 

Van tr i ed to obtain a job to oupport his fami l y outside t h e 

na viga t ion field. One of the positions h e t ri e d the h a r de st 

t o obtain was with the Tennes s ee Valley Authority . He also 

t h oug h t of teaching, running a business, and selling real 

estate in Tennessee. 

If only I can land the position with the Tennessee 
Valley Authority, I shall feel all set up for the 

16Letter from P. V. H. Weems to Judge_W. L. 
Tennessee supreme Court, Tennessee State Library 
Archives, Manuscript Division. 

Cook, 
and 

17p. Weems "1933 Diary," April 18~h entry,_ 
Tennessee ~ta~; Libra~y and Archives, Manuscript Division. 



~~~ ten years, or perhaps longer. If for any reason 
falls through, I 8lJl thinking seriously of going 

into realty business in the Tennessee Valley.18 
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As always, desiring the opinion of his guardian, Tennessee 

State Supreme Court Justice W. L. Cook, his brothers and 

sister, and in business situat ions the advice of his cousin, 

Andrew Gennett. 

I plan to visit home about June and see all my folks 
and get their counsel. If you have any suggestion s 
at this time, I will appreciate them ••• If you 
see a business with good prospects for about 
$10,000 purchase price, please let me know. I s thero 
a possibility of buying into one of the Nashville 
papers? I believe I could do fairly well in that 
line of work.19 

Bro ther Hatton advised 11 not to take a po s i tion a t a prep 

school, because they are fast going out of existence. 
1120 

Be cause of the depression, Van was not able to obt ain any 

of the positions he wanted. Van turned to the two t h ings 

he knew best, writing and navigation. 

Van took over management of the Weems System of Navi­

gation by asswning the debts personally. He attempted to 

put the company on sound financial footing again. 

18 V H Weems to Mr. Andrew Gennett, Letter from P. • • 
date August 8, 1933• 

19Latter from P. v. H. Weems to Supreme Court Justice 
w. L. Cook, undated. 

20Latter from George Hatton Weems to P. v. H. Weems, 
date February 28, 1933• 
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Additional items were added to the inventory•. i averag ng 

sextants, Wind Drift Plotters, and nume rous othe r naviga-

t i onal aids. The business wa s transferred from San Diego , 

California to the family home in Annapolis, Maryland . Van 

worked long hours at technical and non-technical writing, 

trying to make enough money to keep the business and the 

family on an even keel. An example of the non-technical 

writing was his "The Flight o f the 'Tingmissartoq," which 

was an account of the 1933 survey flights of the 

Lindberghs. Included in the story were pho tographs of the 

Weems System of Navigation equipment used. 21 

Over the garage at their home, Van rigged up a studio 

where special students in air navigation could learn 

directly from Van on a daily schedule. He, also, started 

teaching air and sea navigation at Johns Hopkins Universi ty 

in nearby Baltimore. 2 2 Later he taught similar classes 

for New York University, Division of General Education, at 

the Hayden Planetarium in New York City. 

V Saw his "Ai· r Almanac " Months before retirement, an 

published by the Naval Observatory. It received a great 

deal of publicity. 

2 i A ril 19.34, "The Flight lp. v. H. Weems, Aviat on, P , 
of the Tingmi~sartoq.' 

November, 1936. 22Editorial, Nashville Tennessean, 



Of inte:rost to runateur navig a tor a~ well as aviat 
d . th . - or an mariners e Air Almanac the fi:rst of i· t k " l 

t b b 
. , • s .inc 

o e pu lished, has made its appearanco. The idoa 
~f t h e almanac was developed b y Lieu t . Com. P. v. H. 
v-/eems • • • imp r ovemen ts embodie d in the Ai T" 

Alma nac aro de clared to cut down the work o f the 
navigation twenty five percent.23 
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Van worked hard at t he two things he enjoyed tho mo st, 

writin g and navigation. His attitude during the firs t 

couple of years after retireme nt is reflected in an e arl ier 

le tter t o his bro t her Joe B. Weems o f Di ckson, Tennessee . 

Fortune for u s in the weoms Syst em of Naviga t ion 
seems always to be jus t around the corner. At least 
we are getti ng our feet on the ground and are begin­
ning to know where we stand. Ul timatel y we hope to 
make s ome nice profit, but it seems pretty slow 
sometimes . In the meantime, we get about all the 
compliments one could wi sh - If o[JJ.y compliments 
would buy shoes for the childron . 24 

Reti rement and management o f the Weems System of 

Navigation did not muddle Van's ability to think big abo'.l t 

the f uture of aviation. " My visi on f or the future is 

f o r large, long range planes equipped with radio, with a 

pilot and a relief pilot. The relief pilot operates the 

radi o and navigates. " Van wa s disturbed that the Uni ted 

States was turning against the ideas of Billy Mitchell. 

seemed that other countries showed moro intere st in Van' s 

2 3san Diego Tribune, January 23, 1933, "Air Almanac 
r-Iakes s . D. Debut . " 

24 Letter from P. V. H. 
October 24, 1929, Tennessee 
Manuscript Division. 

Weems to Joe B. Weems dated 
state Library and Archives, 

It 
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work than the United States. Japan ki was as ng for prices 

and time of delivery of new sextants at $450 a copy in lots 

of 50 and 1~. The United States War Department ordered 

only six. He asked for and received advice from the State 
Department on what he could sell abroad. 

By the middle of 19.34, the company showed a modest 
p r ofit. It continued to grow at this slow rate until the 

navigational demands of World War II mushroomed the growt h 

rate and the size of the company. 

By 1939 the Weems System of Navigation was known 

a cross the United States and around tho world. Compani e~ 

or individual navigators were retailing navigation supplie s 

or teaching the Weems System of Navigation in New York, 

San Francisco, Berkeley, Los Angeles, San Diego, New 

Orleans, Seat t le, Denver, London, England, Karaci City, 

India and in Melbourne, Australia. Students of navigation 

by correspondence were not limited to Engli sh speaking 

students. Spanish and Russian students took advantage of 

learning to navigate by the magic of the written word and 

the reliable u. s. Mail system. 

Teaching navigation under the Weems System of Navi­
gation was not restricted to men. Miss Mary Tornich 
of San Francisco becaJUe interested in the mechanics 
of navigation while attending the University of 
California when she studied mathematics and astronomy. 
She had a1ready earned her pilots license and graduated 
from the City's navigation school in the Ferry Building. 



Miss Tornich studied navigation under Captain 
P. V. H. Weems in Annapolis. She returned to San 
Francisco to establish a navigation school using 
the Weems System of Navigation techniques and 
retailing their supplies.25 
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Time and paper does not permit a detailed discussion 

of all the projects that Captain Weems worked on before the 

war. 

He addressed aeronautical meetings, contributed to 
the aeronautical press, wrote textbooks, and kept up 
correspondence with inventors and manufacturers both 
here and in Great Britain. While his firm dealt in 
all navigational instruments, celestial navigation 
has occupied a special place in his interest. As 
late as 1936 he was still trying to convince overland 
airlines to use celestial navigAtion. But in spite 
of his best efforts, he had to 1 oount more on othe r 
branches of air navigation, and on celestial naviga ­
tion for the mariner' as ~guroes of income until the 
approach of World War II. 

25san Francisco ExalTliner, September 3, 1939. 

2h__ Wight Most Probable Position, The 147-"Monte Duane r ' Lawrence Kansas, 1972, PP• 
University of Kansas Press, ' 
148. 



LATE SERVICE 

By the end of 1940, there was no doubt in Van's mind 

that the United States would become involved in another 

way. He was just as positive that there would be a "kee n 

demand for navigators, especially celestial navigat ors. 11 

He continued to encourage developments that would aid the 

celestial navigator. 'Ihe Naval Observatory final l y 

published the Air Almanac. 'Ihis book "provided the lo ca­

t ion of the celestial body; the sextant measure d the 

he i ght. These items define d the celestial triangle "1 
• • • 

t ha t could be solved with the Star Al t itude Curves . Van 

had been publishing the Almanac in the United S tate s , under 

copyright of the British firm, Hughes & Son, that combined 

t he features of "Weems 1933 edition of the American 

a lmanac with those of the French almanac." The Commanding 

Officer of the Naval Observatory had refused to acknowledge 

t he need of an air almanac since he took office in 1934. 

He was forced to accept it in the shadow of the coming 

world war. He knew the free world would need young men 

a "short method" such as the Weems 
who could navigate with 

1 
1 

ht Most Probable Position, Ibid., 
Monte Duane Wr g , 

P. 160. 
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Sys tem of Navigation. Van did not receive an award or 

special recog ni t ion for his Ai r Almanac book of 1
933

, 
nor 

fo r his effort s to have t he b ook publis h ed f or t h e 

navi g a t o r in 194].. He receive d only self-sa tisfaction that 

again he had been proven rig h t in the f i eld of i 
nav gation . 

Many people have incorrectly a ssumed that Captain 

Weems made a "kill i ng" selling navigational i terns to the 

U. s . Government during World War I I . Most of the patents 

is s u e d to Capt ain Weems we re ob tained while in the u. s . 

Navy . The U. S . Navy, t herefore , r etaine d the " shop 

rights . " Thi s mean s t ha t i f t he item is ne e ded by t he 

Governme n t , p urchas es can b e made directly from t he manu­

fac t uri n g fi rm, and t h e "middle man profi ts and r oyalties 11 

are cu t out. The "Weems Plotter" and t he "Dal ton 

Compu t er, " s old b y the Weems Sys t em of Navigation , became 

standard items of is s u e f or a viat o rs and navigators . No 

mo ne y was made on the s e items , but the Government allowed 

t he manufacturing firms to deliver t he items with t h e name 

"Weems System of Navigation" print ed on t he e qui pme nt . 

This was satisfactory to all. The Government obtaine d the 

needed equipment, the manufacturer did no t have to "modify" 

the printing plates and could deliver the same item to the 

government or to the Weems Sys tem of Navigation. The We ems 

S 1 received a "million dollars" wort h of ystem of Navigat on 

fre e advertisement. This led to future sales after the war 
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when the combat fli e r s and navigat ors returned to civilia n 

life to ope n small a irfields or navigational school s near 

the ir homes. 

The busines s d id boom du ri ng the war selli ng navi ga­

t i o n e quipment to civilian firms , cha rts to the Gove rnme n t , 

a n d corresponde nce c ourse s . Many of the c o r respon de nce 

cou rse applicant s during this time were attempting to 

ob tain t heir navig a t o r ' s license that woul d allow them to 

joi n the Army Air Corps or the Me rcha n t Marine as a 

navi g ator r a t he r t h an b e drafted in to the Infan try . 

During May , 1 942 , Van i n s truc ted a class of u. s . 

Marine navigat o rs t h a t woul d be doing long r ange fl y ing . 

He was not t old t hei r spe cific mission , except that t he y 

in t u r n would te a ch o ther Mari nes to navigate long range . 

Mammy was no t recognized fo r t hi s early war effort un t il 

1971. 

In February 1 94 2 he tra ined s ix marine s (five 
officers and one enli sted) in ove rwater aerial 
navigation, without charge, in his navigat iona l 
school at Annapoli s . To the be st o f my knowl edge 
these were among the first, if no t the firs t , 
trained aerial navigators in Marine Aviation during 
World War II. These six Marines were utilized a s 
instructors, three in each Air Wing. The fi rst 
graduates of their courses successfully navigat ed 
the 5,200 miles from San Diego to New Cale donia in 
airplanes of UMJ- 253, which promptly began flight 
operations in suppor t of Marine s on Guadal c anal in 
September 1942. 2 

2Letter and Plaque presented to Captain Weems by Ma j o r 
General H. s. Hill, u. s. Marine Corps, Shipmate, July­
August, 1971. 



On July 9, 1942, Van was returned to active duty as 

Lieutenant Cormnander. After a short period of duty as 

Convoy Commodore, he was promoted to Commander and later 

t o Captain. Mrs. Weems, again, was forced to take active 

management of the Weems System of Navigation. 'Ihe company 

suffered through the same problems other companies experi­

enced, that of material and labor shortages. The children 

were reaching maturity, and they were taken into the 

company as partners because of "love and affection," and 

t he need for their services. Mrs. Weems was assisted by 

se ve ral retired Naval friends and Colonel A. Illyne, who 

had been with the company sinc e 1935. 

Colonel Alexis A. Illyne had held a corrnnission in t he 

Russian Air Force, under the Czar Nicholas . After the 

Communist revolution, he fought with General Wrangel 

against the Communists. He was forced to flee Russia. 

After his arrival in the United States in 1922, he was 

employed in various occupations. "Captain Weems said he 

was probably the best star cartographer in the nation, 

being the author of Illyne Star Charts in Russia and in 

this country."3 

As convoy commander, Captain Weems had assigned to 

him a couple of young Naval Reserve officers and several 

}p:vening Capital, (Annapolis, Maryland) May 19, 1952, 
p. 12. 



enlisted men. This small "command" would boapd one of the 

merchant ships and establish the "convoy headquarters . " 

The merchan t ships would assemble in port, then steam out 

to sea in formation. u. s. Navy escorts would join the 

convoy when they reached "dangerous" waters and le a ve the 

convoy when it ente red a friendly port. 

The actions of Captain Woems and hi s cormnand g roup 

shocked some of the young Naval officers aboard the war 

ships . Captain Weems ran a h aphazard comma nd , delega t e d 

authority to his young office rs and worried only about t he 

"big picture." He was not ovu rly con s cious o f his dros s , 

"nine out of to n time s , he wo uld have hi s hat o n s i g ni a on 

incorr e ctly . 11 This an d his f amiliari ty wi t h h i s comma nd 

me mbers led out side r s to belie ve t ha t h i s "command " di d 

no t have prope r r e spec t for their Captain . The exact 

oppo s ite was truo , they had t h e "highes t respec t fo r the i r 

Captain ." 
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He always had his sextant and books aboard ship an d 

used every opportunity t o talk about navigation and t o work 

on now improvoman ts .4 

Captain Weems and o t he rs conduc tad a seminar on 
navigation ••• on the t abla was the book, Star 
Altitude Curves, a Link Bubble Sextan~ and _a Mark 
II 1 tte ·- it seems our course is being plotted 

P o r • • • · · th A. by these gadgets, all standard equipmen t in e ir 

--------
4 G. D. Dunlap, April 16, 1973, Interview with Mr. 

member of Captain Woems' Convoy Command Group. 



Force • • • and all brain childre n of t he learned 
Commodore (Weems), who also designed the Air Almanac 
u~ed by the Army. Your s oldie r-reporter was beyond 
his depth and prepared to reel to t he door when the 
conversations come out of the clouds and turned to 
farming . Captain Weems gradua t ed from Annapolis in 
1912 , a class that boasts a record of 28 Ac:lrairals 
and Commodores ••• for the big picture of the 
Commodore , add to the halo of science ••• infini to 
charm,. lively hwnop and a warming smile t hat spell s 
affection for the seven seas that he holds in the 
palm of h is charts . 5 
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Captai n Weems' first convoy was f rom New York to 

Galveston on September 18-26, 1942. His thirty-s e cond and 

las t convoy was from Sou thhampton, England, to New York on 

February 10-22 , 1945. During these convoys, ove r one 

t housand ships were under his command. He considere d him­

self very lucky not t o have lost a singl e ship . Only one 

ship wa s extensively damaged . The Matt W. Ranson 6 hi t a 

mine off the coast of Casablanca. There we re nwnerous 

mino~ accidents batween the me rchant ships in the convoy 

during bad wo ather while attempting to "zig- zag" to avoid 

enemy submarines . 

Captain Weems followed his pre-World War II pattern 

of Naval service by spe al{ing up when he believed there was 

a bet ter way of doing things. As before , his suggestions 

5p00 Deck, September 26, 1944; a mime?graphed "news­
paper" puElished aboard one of the ~roop sl;iJ?s, Tennessee 
State Library and Archives , Manuscript Division. 

6A liberty ship built by North Carolina Shipping Co., 
Wilmington, N. C. 
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we r'e no t; always "cheerfully" roceived by his senio r officcro . 

zig zagging , connidering the 
I believe getting th0r0 first 
the questionable value of 
t he escort gives bet ter pro­
on a steady course a t top 
course greatly increases 

I question the value of 
overall 1944 situation 
wi t h the most outweigh; 
zig zagging. I believe 
tection with the convoy 
speed. The most direct 
convoy efficiency by: 

1. reducing time at sea and consequently U-boa t 
danger. 

2. reducing danger of collisions. 
3. increase goods d0livered. 
4. reducing fuel conswnption and o t he r expensas . 

It is being said that more ships are, at presen t , 
being lost or damaged by collision than by U-boa t 
attacks.? 

Captain Weoms included theso ideas an d added additional 

i n forma tion on a repor t of an t i-submarine warfare at the 

conclunion of the war. 

When materials became scarce during the war, Captain 

Weems became vary conscious o f the waste of "valuable 

material" thrown overboard as trash. He made a detailed 

study on his own of the type of waste that was being 

thrown away and the "black marka t" prices for similar 

material in North African ports • 

• • • there is a serious waste of valuable materi~l 
thrown overboard at sea or into garbage lighters in 
port This material cons ists of wooden boxes, pape r 
cart;ns tin cans etc., all this would have little 
value i~ the Unit~d States but is sorely needed in 
the war-ravaged countries of our allies •• • The 
following plan is submitted: 

7c t ·n p v H Weems After Action Report on Mer-ap a1. • • • ' . b d 
cantile Convoy Number CU25, Tennessee State Li rary an 
Archives, Manuscript Division. 



1. put enti re program und0r the American ned 
Cross and give them the proc0 od3 • 

2 . give definite, brief ins truction s to all 
sh~ps, merchant and Navy, to 0liminate waste . 

3. uti~ize local or prisoner-of-war labor at 
various ports to collect and process the 
material. 

4. make regular, daily collecti ons in por t 
• • • the "black market" in North African ports• and 
elsewhere is no t gen?rally understood, bu t is due to 
lack of source materials, and can be logically cor ­
r e cted by supplying urgently needed items to meet the 
demand ••• In the writer 's opinion Americans will 
save under the se condi tions .8 

In 1945 Van earn0d his wings as a Naval Air Navigator . 

On February 6, 1945, Captain We0ms on ce again returned to 

civil ian life and a ssumed active manageme nt of hi s company . 

For his three years service a s Convoy Cormnodo r e , he was 

awarded the Bronze Star Medal. 

When Captain Weems returned to Annapolis, Maryland, he 

was forced to make radical cut-backs in production due to 

over-supply and to the Government surplus of naviga t ional 

items on the market. The principal marke t items for the 

next few years were the books authored by Captain Weems, 

Star Altitude Curves, Air N~v~gation, Marine Navigation, 

Line of Position Book, Instrument Flying, Learning to Navi­

gate, a few navigational instruments and correspondence 

courses. "b d" h The post-war correspondence courses oome wen 

8Captain P. v. H. Weems, November, 1943, "Report on 
Waste Salvage Material on American Ships." Tennessee State 
Library, Ibid. 
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th0 Veterans Adminis t ration approved the _ course as part of 

th0 "G. I. Bill and related benefits. 11 

Captain Weems was not a good businessman, in the 

normal sense of the word. He all d th owe o ers to keep t r a ck 

of th0 details that make a business profitable, and 11 never 11 

pl a ced emphasis on a project f or it s potential monetary 

value . It was very fortunate that the Weems System of 

Navigation had accumulated some capital. This enabled him 

to hi re a competent staff t o assi st in the development of 

his ideas and to run the compa ny. 

One of the young men hirod du rin6 this time was G. D. 

Dunlap, 9 who had been a member of Captain Weems I staff 

during the war. Dale Dunlap and the other members of the 

company's staff were used a s a "sounding board" for the 

Captain. Friendly arguments would occur concerning tho 

feasibility of a project. The staff soon learned that say ­

i ng, "no" or, "that will no t work," was like waving a re d 

flag in front of a bull. Th0 Captain would dig in to 

prove his point, and his staff would be forced to 11 do their 

homework 11 to show how the idea could be modifie d to worlc. 

This healthy work atmosphere turned out a m..1raber of prac-ci­

cal navigational items, many of which were not profitable . 

9Managed the company for years; pur chased part 
Weems System of Navigation after it was sold to 'Iha 
Mirror Company of Los Angeles in 1964. 

of the 
Times 
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During arguments, Dale, "kept in mind the Captain 1 s batting 

average with navigation. The number of times world experts 

had said his ideas were not practical, and he had proven 

them wrong. I can not remember a conversation when he 

reached a decision to develop something based on making 

money on it. 1110 

lOrntarview wi t h Mr. G.D. Dunlap, April 16, 1973 , 
Annapolis, Maryland. 



WIDE HORIZONS 

As an extrovert, Captain ~Jeams loved people. Hi s 

5_n te re st in meeting all type s of people and sharing their 

expe riences throughout his life led him into a very diverse 

nwnbar of fields outside of navigation. Afte r he became 

financially secure and had found competent managers to run 

his company, he devoted a great deal of his time and money 

to civic duties and other interests. 

He supported the United S tates Naval Academy through 

t he u. s . N. A. Alwnni and Athletic Associations in every 

possible way from donations of items to be use d as class 

awards to attendance at all athletic events. He made hi s 

home the gathe ring place for midshipmen and graduates. 

Van kept open houso on Saturdays when there were 
athletic contests at the Naval Academy, which Van 
attended regularly. Van usually mat old out-of-town 
friends at the events an d would invite them to come 
to their home. Margaret never knew how many to pre­
pare for ••• she was always pleased and cordial, 
a mark of a good disposition.I 

Van used the facilities of the Academy to keep hims elf 

in top physical shape. In 1939 the coaches of tho wrestling 

team would remark, "If you don't shape up, I'll make you 

lLetter from Captain Robert A. Lavender, Classmate of 
P. v. H. Weems, in a letter dated April 4, 1973. 



wrestle Mammy Weems." One young midshipman, who was a 

member of the varsity boxing and wrestling team, recalled 

meeting Mammy on the mat. 
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I was in the gym workin~ out when this older man 
(Mammy at the age of 48} wanted to know if I wanted 
to workout with him on the mat. I had heard the 
coaches talk of Mammy Weems, but I had not seen him 
wrestle. I agreed to a match and before I knew wha t 
was going on, Mammy had me pinned. He killed me wi th 
a grape-vine hold and a take over and I was f i nished. 
We continued to workout for almost an hour. He 
would show me how to break the holds and how t o pin 
an opponent. I worked out with Mammy ~any t i mes af t er 
that, but I was never able to pin him. ~ 

The list of civic dut ies tha t Van unde rtook is l o ng 

and extensive. Some of the ac tivities were formal t othe rs 

wero things that he felt should be done . Some of the formal 

activities included chai rmanshi p of the Anne Arundel County 

Welfare Board in 1934; ward representative fo r Citizens 

League, Ward one, Annapolis, Maryland ; Chairman of the 

Armed Forces Day Commit t ee in 1957; Commander o f G. C. 

Barlett Post Number Seven, American Legion; and a memb e r 

of the Chamber of Commerce. In 1957, the Chamber of Com­

merce staged a re-enactment of an historic event to dramatize 

high taxes. Captain Weems played the part of Anthony 

Stewart, part owner of the Peggy Stewart, a ship that was 

burned in the Annapolis harbor in 1774 in protest of 
th

e 

tea tax imposed by the British. 

2persona1 Interview with Captain Joseph Linehan, Class 

of 1939, on April 9, 1973• 
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Perhaps the one civic duty that Van undertook, withou t 

being asked by anyone, best exemplified his attitude toward 

the Navy and his fellow man, concerns the Buick dealer in 

Annapolis. Van met one of tho owners of the Buick dealer­

ship at a Chamber of Commerce meeting and heard him say 

that some of the Naval Officers who had departed Annapolis 

were not paying their bills. Van resented the fact that 

an automobile dealer claimed tha t he had lost money on 

Naval officers. He asked if he could write the off icers 

and clear up the accounts for the good and credi t o f the 

Navy. The nwnber of accounts that Van cleared up are no t 

recorded. He received no recognition for the man y le tters 

that he wrote on b ehalf of the ''honor of the Navy. 11 3 

Van believed that he had an obligation to help h is 

fell owman, especially those that were less fortunate than 

he . He was very proud of his heritage, and the fact tha t 

he had been able to grow up on the farm and make good. He 

was always willing to help his family in Tennessee. 

Let's look at the whole set -up: two of five bro thers 
have had good to excellent salaries, the other three 
have had the usual run of depression expe rie nce s . 
We might even include Sister and Mr. Slayden with 
this picture for they also had been through the mill. 
For years I was [sic] best fixed financially, but 
now you are in the best position, while later I or 
some of the others will possibly be. 

31etters to individuals owing money to t~etc~~ptn?· 
Tennessee State Library and Archives, Manuscr P v sion. 
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In all these years we have had calls for hel 
from all of.our brothers - including Mr. Slayde n.P 
To date, w~ile they are indebted to us, we have no t 
lost anything on any of t hem, and if we hang toge ther 
I do not believe any of us will lose on the others . 4 ' 

Not only did he feel obl i gated to his innnediate famil y , 

but he joined his bro t her in helping to establish a n edu ca­

ti on fund. 

In t he summe r of 1 938, Cap t a i n P . V. H. Weems and 
his son, t he late Lt . Cdr . George T. We ems (Bee) 
were visi t ing Mr. and Mrs . J. A. Slayde n at Waverly, 
Tennessee •••• Thi s g r oup discussed the possibility 
of persuading Brig. General G. H. Weems to consider 
several thousand dollars he had loaned previously to 
nephews and niece s for educat ional purposes as a 
revolving fund t o loan t o o t he r~ , as needed, for 
educational purposes . The name of the fund was sug­
gested as the G. H. Weems Educational Fund, in memory 
of Jos~h Burch We ems a nd May Elizabeth (Bessie Rye) 
Weems.;> 

I n 1956, this fund was changed from a family educational 

fund to an "op en " fun d to make i t eligible for federal 

income t ax deduc t ions. As an open fund , anyone can borrow 

money for educat ional purposes . Cap t a in Weems contributed 

to the fund and has served as a trustee of the f und since 

its beginning. The fund has continued t o grow and r e ce ntl y 

pur chased a building in Waverly, Tennessee, as its pe rma-

colonel Wl..lliam H. Slayden, a trus tee , nen t headquarters. 

is the editor of the G. H. Weems Educational Fund newspape r 

Weamsana. 

4Letter from P. V. H. Weems to Major G. H. Weems, dated 
Februa 14 1935, Tennessee State Library and Archives, 
Manusc~pt Division. 

5weemsana, February 16, 1959, Number 1 , Volume V, P• 1 • 



Colonel Slayden started the newspaper in January, 

1943, as a means of keeping up with the news of the Weems 

family during World War II. 

It just occurred to me, Bill Slayden, that during 
the war, with so many Weems taking such an active 
part in it, we ought. to have some way for all of 
us to keep up with all the rest of us.6 

Listed on the front page of the first edition of the 

Weemsana were the names of thirteen members of the Weems 

"Clan II who were serving in the war. Include d were t he 

names of Captain Weems and his two sons. Captain Weems 

was an active contributor to the newspaper, and i n l ater 

years, encouraged Colonel Slayden to conti nue the p ape r 
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a s a means of preserving the hi s torical and family re cords 

of the Weems family. 

Van could almost be described as a soft touch. He 

has always been willing to help friends settle an argumen t 

about flying, or support someone who had an idea abou t 

navigation; or invest his money in a venture because he 

was asked to invest by his friends; or help a kid with a 

trained dog. A friend, Wilson Garey, asked Van to help 

set up some performances for his son's trained four year 

old dog. Van arranged several stage appearances, and then 

wrote the Hal Roach studios in Hollywood, suggesting that 

they look into the possibility of using this dog like they 

6weemsana, January 1, 1943, Number 1, Volume I, P• 1. 
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were using t he t hen famous Rin Tin Tin. A typical reques t 

for information by the American Public concerned two majo r 

league ball players. 

I am Miss Kyle, recently of the Racquet Club navi ga­
tion class ••• yesterday I met a man named T. c. 
Stephens and found out he had been selected judge 
for a hundred dollar be t between t wo b i g league 
baseball players, "Lefty " 0 'Doul and Watson Clark of 
the New York Giant s . The p r oblem is - i f an airplane 
with a spee d of 100 mile s pe r hour, e ncounters a head' 
wind of 100 mile s an hour , what happe ns? One pl ayer 
says it will stand still, and the o t her s aid i t would 
progress. Mr. Stephens would l i ke a letter addres se d 
to him, s igned by a n authority, which is you, so t he 
fellows will take t he an nwe r a s authentic . ? 

Phi lip R. Burt on was a math teacher in Geelong , 

Au stralia who h a d an i dea about pu tting a device on a sex­

tant that would allow t h e navigator to ob tain a 11 f ix11 

wi t hout a horizon. Captain Weems became in teres t ed i n the 

ide a a nd tried t o obtai n support from t he Naval Ac ademy 

and o t her e ducat ional i nstitu tions for a research project . 

No one believed the device woul d wo rk and would no t se t up 

a rese a r ch project . True to his "bul l dog 11 na ture , Captain 

i He fl.·nal ly paid Mr . Bur ton' s fare Weems would no t g ve up . 

to Annapolis. 

hol i c and began charging hi s bills to Capt ain Weems ."
8 

" I t t urne d out t ha t Mr. Burton was an alco -

7 K 1 top V H. Weems , dated 14 
Letter from Fern D. Y.~ •nd.Archives Manuscri p t 

June 19.34, Tennessee Sta t e L1. rary a ' 
Di vision. 

8 Mr. Dale Dunlap on April 16, 1973, 
Interview with 

Annapolis, Maryland. 
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The idea was mathematically possible, but it c ould not be 

transformed into a workable sextant. Captain Weems di d no t 

give up on Burton. It is against his nature t o turn down 

a "friend." Mr. Burton drifted off, and nothing was e ve r 

said about the expenses caused by the idea that didn' t 

work. 

Van had been enticed into several financ ial ve ntur es 

wi th friends. One was "oil l e ase s" in Tennessee tha t 

showed enough promise in 1940 to "buy" more leases. 

J. Ray Goodwin of Nashville, who h as formerly operated 
in Mid-Continent Fields , h as acquired leases of 
several thousand acres along Bart on ' s Creek near 
CUmberland Furnace, twelve mile s from Dickson, and 
has covered that terri t o ry here t ofore des i gnated a s 
the Cumberland furnace anticline. Thi s te r ritory 
has been pronounced as favo rable territory. 9 

Another was a land syndi cate t hat pur chased sixte e n hu ndred 

acres on Deep Creek Lake in West e rn Maryland . The r e are 

o thers, but these two show the d i vers ity of investme nt s 

outside navigation. He would inves t because his fri e nds 

a s ked him to join them. None of his investment ven t u res 

ou t side of his own field of na vigation were su ccessfu l . 

In 1936, Van worked wi t h Mr. E . A. LinklO on a bubble 

sextant. Over the next twenty years, they worked togethe r 

9Nashville Tennessean, May 24, 1940, P• 2 • 

lONavigation inventor, holden~-~~ai ~i~:t~~;~~ed~:=~ol~d 
the Link trainer which is a grou 
instrument-flight training for pilots. 



on numerous projects and wrote a book toge t her , Simplified 

Celestial Navigation. Mr Link lik c _ • , e aptain Weems , 

became financially secure after World War II. As a hobby , 
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Mr. Link turned to sailing and then to unde rwater 

"historic" exploration. Captain Weems was i nvite d t o join 

the i r expediti on and par t icipate as a diver , and an 

ass i s tant on navigation in a t t emp ting t o locate Columbu s ' s 

r ou te to the new wor l d • 

• • • our very good friend , Philip Van Horn Weems 
retired U. s . Navy offi cer and founde r and head of 
the Weems System of Naviga t ion, arrived abo ar d t he 
Sea Diver for a brief stay . It was Captai n Weems 
who had first introduced u s to Verhoog 1 s theory, and 
we soon found ourselves i nvol ved in long deba t e s 
with him as to t he relative merits of frbri s on ' s and 
Verhoog 1 sll argument s. I t was during the se dis cus ­
sions that the i dea fi rst occurred to u s t o go and 
see for ourselves • 

• • • Captain We ems en thusiastically agr eed to 
go with u s . We could have chosen no be t te r companion, 
for he is without doub t t he ou tstandi ng navigat ion 
expert in the world today , an d a man who plunge s 
heart and soul into whate ver he undert akes . A man 
of nearly three score year s a nd t en , hi s broa d 
shoulders and powerful muscles bear t esti mony to a 
lifetime of physical ac t ivi ty . From early youth in 
the Naval Academy to the present, he has mai ntained 
a high level of physical health and dexteri ty . 12 

During this expedition, an anchor was foun d "which t here i s 

h S t Ma i II The good reason to believe caIT1e from t e an a r a. 

llTwo of the theories on the exact route Columbus t ~ok 
to the new world through the Bahamas and. t he exact spot e 
first saw land that are accepted as possible routes. 

12Marion Clayton Link, Sea Diver, University of Miami 
Press, Miami, Florida, P• 143. 



98 

anchor was presented to Guillaume Sam, Governor of Northern 

Haiti. 1 3 

Four years l ate r, Van was a sked to J·o1.·o a joint venture 

wi t h the Links, National Geographic, and the Smithsonian . 

This time the underwater exploration was of the ci ty of 

Port Royal, a city that s ank i n 1692 during an earthquake . 

Port Roya.l is on an island near Kingston, Jamaica. For 

his work on a map of the sunken c i ty of Port Royal , Captain 

Weems received a li fetime membership to the National 

Geographic. A photograph and reproduction of the map i 3 

on page 167 of the February, 1960 , issue of the National 

Geographic. 

Business appointments , visits to relative s , or jus t 

to b e in on what was going on kept Van t raveling or plan ­

ning a trip. His thre e most memorable trips were: a 

f light over t he North Pole in an early weather recon­

naissance airplane; a flight wi t h his son from London to 

Alice Springs, Australia; and a four month around-the-world 

trip with his wife. The flight in 1948 was made in a WoPl d 

War II converted bomber before inflight re -fueling and 

North Pole flights were accepted as practical. 

In February, 1949, Van's son, Lt. Comdr. G. T. Weems, 

ha h Empire Test Pilot School with the Royal d completed t e 

1 3Life, May 9, 1955, P• 126• 
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Ai r Force in England, and had taken a leave of absence. 

He had agreed to fly a small twin-engine DeHaviland Rapide 

bi-plane from London to Alice Springs, Australia. He 

asked his father to come alon~ as navigator. 

Among thos0 men who know air and ai r c r af t however 
it crea~ed qui~e a stir. A pret ty ri sky bus in03s ,' 
they said, flying over o.ll that water wi th no radi o 
and navigation equipm0nt so compact it r equi r es no t ' 
much more space t han a Na shville telephone 
di r ectory .14 

The t o t al dis t ance f lown was t welve thounand mile s . The 

range of the aircraft was abou t five hundred mi les . The 

ave r age spoed was only 110 miles-per -hou r . The a i rcraf t 

was delivered to t he Connellan Airways of Au 3t ralia , which 

u sed the plane for flying doc t ors to r emote po i nt s i n the 

bush country. 

The p ace was slow, and the stops freque nt . The t rip 

t ook a total of twonty - three days . Thi s was the mos t 

e njoyable eA-perience Van eve r had wi t h hi s son. 
11He would 

r e call with pleasure some of the pleasant t hings that 

happoned on the trip with Bee flying tho plane and Cap t a i n 

. t· 1115 Weems naviga ing. 

Van had talkod about taking a trip around-the -world 

wi t h his wife, but he kept putting it off becaus e of 

14The Nashville Tenne~s~~, April 30, 1950. 
~-------- --

1 Annapolis, Maryland, 
15rnterview with Mr. Dale Dun ap, 

on April 16, 1973• 
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bus iness or other projects. F'inally in 195J, Mr s . Weems 

made some ten t ative plans, leaving plent y of open date s 

for side trips, and marched Van to the American Airline s 

plane at Washington National Airport. The trip took 

almost four months, with frequent stops to visit fri ends , 

sightseeing, and talks about navigation. 

Tho Weemses spent t wen t y days in Japan . Tney visi t ed 

their old friend, Vice Admi r al z. Hoshi na , who h ad visi ted 

in their home in Annapolis. Capt a i n Weems made a speci al 

point to meet the famil y of t he lat e Dr. Ogura, who in 

1927 had given him permiss ion to publish Dr. Ogur a 1 s 

navi g a tion tables. At one dinner party g i ven for t he 

Weems es, nine Japanese admi r al s wo re p resent . Each one 

sig ned a fan that was given to Mrs . Weems a s a souvenir . 16 

On each leg of theii- t r i p , whe n the airplane had 

r e ached t he de s ired altitude , Cap tain vJeems would send his 

card to the pilot. The pilot, recogni zing tho name "Weems 

Sy stem of Naviga t ion," woul d i nvi t e Captain We em3 fo r ward 

t o discuss tho aircraft, the fli ght, and naviga tion. Upon 

T/ uld make a courte sv arrival in each country , the 1•00mse s wo ... ., 

rrn..ey dined with Adlai Steven­call at the u. s. Embassy. _u 

1 Dool:1-ttle, and Amba s sador Luce , son, FoPmer Consul, Genera 

-----·----
16rnterview with Mrs. P. V. H. Weems, Annapolis, 

Maryland, on Ap1•il 17, 1973• 
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t o name t he mo s t well known. They visit ed t he no rmal 

tou rlst at t r ac t ions , Angkor Wat , Ta j Mahal and the Vatican , 

and staye d i n f amou 3 hotel s l ike t he Imperial Ho t el in 

Japan and t he Anfa Ho t el in Casablanca.17 

Upon their return t o the Uni t ed Sta tes , Captain We0ms 

wro te a brief a ccoun t o f the t rip and made some general 

ob s ervations. 

The world is f ast be coming standardized in 
dr ess, food, mus ic, transporta tion, and business 
methods. Thi s i s e spe cially true along principal 
wo r ld travel route s , and is accelerated by radio, 
television, airplane s, movies, and automobiles. 

The Engli sh language is now the principal 
busines s and di plomati c language for world inter­
cour se. 

The ave r age Ame ri can does not visualize the 
terrible p overty and relatively high intelligence 
of the great major i ty of human beings. 

A wor ld t our , t o be e ntirely enjoyable, re­
quires mor e than the ne cessary time and money -
the consti tut ion of a horse , the digestio~ of~ 
calllel and the patie nce of Job, are essenti al.1 

17The Anfa Hotel is whero Pre s ident Roosevelt and 
Prime Minister Churchill met in 1943• 

"Round World Tour of P • V • H • 
18Mi.maograVrhed p:ber~ 7 June 1953, Tennessee State 

and N. T. Weems l9 FM• uscript Division. 
Library and Archives, an 



FAMILY 

The story of Captain Weems' lif . 1 
e is c osely identi -

fied with the Weems System of Navigation. The Weems 

System of Navigation story is no t complete without the 

details of Captain Weems' fami ly. His wife, Margaret 

Thackray Weems, founded the company, a cted as manager for 

a number of years, and encouraged her husband to con t inue 

in the navigation field. The children were legal partners 

and worked in the business. 

Margaret Thackray' s childhood was completely diffe re nt 

from her husband's. Her father, George E. 'lhackray , was 

considered to be "the dean of the engineers of the coun try . 11 

He earned degrees in me tallurgy and c i vil and mechanical 

engineering. He encouraged Margaret, his oldes t child by 

over three years, to read an y of the books he kept in the 

home, including business journals and engineering report3 . 

Education for Margaret was by private tut ors, a couple 

of years of public high school, and Bryn Mawr College. She 

was two years younger than Van in age. However, she 

graduated from college the same year he graduated from 

Annapolis, 1912. She, like Van, was very active in sport s. 

Her favorite activities ware tennis and gymnastics. In 

tennis she reached the championship level by winning the 
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mixed doubles championship at the Westmont Tennis Club in 

1913 during the second annual tournament in Southweste r n 

Pennsylvania. She "excelled at the net" in the tournament . 

\tAlile attending college, Margaret was invited t o 

Annapolis as a blind date fo r "Red" Sowell by one of 

Red's high school female classmat es i n college at Bryn 

Mawr. Margaret met and dance d with Red ' s "outstanding hero 

roommate," Mammy Weems. But Van never asked her to a "hop" 

nor did they correspond. when Margar et visited Annapol is , 

she enjoyed "watching Van I s cla ssmate, Dick Byrd, an out ­

standing gymnast, work out on t he rings. 111 At West Po i nt , 

Margaret dated a young cadet named Arnold who played 

opposite Van at cen t er in t he 1910 Anny-Navy game. She 

and her date shared i n the sorrow of defeat by Mammy and 

his Navy team at the ''hop" following the game• 

After graduation from Bryn Mawr, Margaret studied 

"library science" under Miss Burke at t he Carnegie Library 

I ff" in Johns town, Pennsyl vania. across from her fathers o ice 

She was presented as a debut anta and became act i ve in the 

social life in the area. Having studied psychology i n 

d by the superintendent of the local 
college, she was aske 

teach a class of "backward chi l­
school system that she 

dren." 

P V H Weems April 17, 1973, 
1 rnterview with Mrs• • • • ' 

Annapolis, Maryland. 
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The Thackray family attended the graduation exercises 

at Penn State when her oldest brother gradua t ed in 1914 . 

At University Park, Margaret met an engineer and his wife, 

Mr. and Mrs. Pearce, who were on leave from the Panama 

Canal Commission. They were chaperoning a house party. 

During the graduation activities, Margaret and the Pearces 

became good friends, and they invited her t o Panama for a 

summer vacation. 

During the ocean voyage to Panama, Margaret became 

seasick. '!hay arrived on the 4th of July and went directly 

to the dance given by the Canal Commission . Margaret had 

a migraine headache from seasickne ss but pretended to have 

a good time while dancing with the young engineers . Dur ing 

one dance, she glanced across the floo r and "saw this guy 

with big ears." Margaret recognized him immediately, 

be cause "no one in the world had ears like t ha t but P. V. H • 

Weems." After a couple of dances, Van asked her t o l unch 

aboard his ship the following Sunday. She accepted, no t 

knowing that the invitation would require her to travel 

across the Isthmus on a train to keep the date. Their 

fi t tl.·me Van or Margaret had seen or heard meeting was the rs 

from one another in three years. 

1 L Hodges ware the only two eligible Margaret and A ma • 

All of the engineers knew girls in the Canal Zone. 

Margaret's father by reputation and expected her to listen 
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with interest to engineering stories. She startled them 

by revealing that she knew how to work a sliderule and was 

familiar with some basic engineering principles. She 

coul.d ride, dance, beat most of her dates at tennis, but 

she could not swim. Dressed in long black stockings and 

a long black swim suit, she presented her date s with a 

challenge to get her into the water. 

All of the bachelor engineers were at tempting to entice 

her to remain lo Panama by finding he r jobs. "Fred Sill 

decided that I coul.d be the librarian and arranged an 

introduction to General Goethals. " General Goethals I first 

question was, "Are you related to George Thackray? 11 When 

Margaret replied, ''He is my fa t her, " General Goethals 

stated, ''You have had library training." He asked several 

questions and then directed that Margaret "see the person ­

nel officer and arrange for employmen t . 11 

The duties of the "Panama Canal Technical Librarian 11 

consisted of establishing a library from the numerous 

boxes of books and technical catalogues that had collected 

ffi She had to order shelving, in various Canal Zone o ces. 

file cabinets, replacement books, etc. Cataloguing the 

b M Bunau-Varilla2 was not French engineering book left Y r. 

Margaret had taken French in college. a problem because 

former chief engineer of the 2Ph1lippe Bunau-Varilla, 
French Canal Company. 
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But the Spanish technical books had to be transl ated with 
the help of her male Jamaican assistant . Establishing and 

managing the library was valuable practical experience for 

Margaret whee she had to organize t he Weems System of 

Navigation in later years. 

Van began to call on Miss Thackray a s often as he 

could get ashore . They di ned and danced at t he Co t i lli on 

Club or attende d pa rties given by the Pearces or Rear 

Admiral and Mrs. D. E. Dismukes. The f irst "serious" 

e ntry Van made in hi s diary followed a hunting trip. 

August 15, 1914 - Reache d Gamgoa at noon and joined 
Mr. and Mrs . Pea rce and party of t hirt een, then began 
our sixtee n mile trip us the Chagnes r iver to our 
camping place . After an informal supper , two hunting 
parties we re organized. Miss Thackray and I went 
together, and t ook a native boy for a guide. We 
hun t e d till nearly twelve , saw a few eye s with the 
head l i ght . Shot all of our shells away, and had 
the mos t novel and int eresting tri p t h rough the 
jungles I eve r made . Mi s s Thackray' "Tack 11 wore 
riding trousers, puttees, a plain panama ha t and a 
flannel shi r t . She carried a pistol in her bel t , 
and was in f i ne t r im evecy way . After re t urni ng to 
camp, Tack and I p r oceeded to dry out by the fire 
and talked till 4:45 A. M. 
Augus t 23, 1914 - Spe nt the night afte r the hop at 
the Happy Pearces. Miss Thackray and I sat in the 
hammock and talked all night. Thi s is the third 
time we have done that - looks serious and in fact 
I do think a lot of he r . I am honored she woul d 
talk all night with me • 
August 26, 1914 - To the dentist then t o Panama to 
see Miss Thackray - spen t the night at t he ¥.appy 11 

Pearce's. I am getting it pretty. bad wi t h Ta~; is 
Everyone seems to like he r includi ng mys1l f . 3 bright, original, witty and simply charm ng. 

)p. v. H. Weems "1914 D~ary," Tenne s see State Library 
and Archives, Manuscript Division. 



TO M. T. BY KE 

Dame moon might shine 
At the same time, ' 

On both my love and me. 
And each beam bear ' 

Some message clear 
To the dear one across the 
Yet, all the dreams 

On all the be ama 
or all the Moonshine fair 
Would not equal 

The thoughts hopeful 
Sent each day on the air.4 

Van never formally proposed to Margaret . 
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sea. 

The first 

demonstration of their intent i ons occurred arter a dee r 

hunting trip with Mr. and Mrs. Pearce. They missed t he 

last train forming at Gatun to go a cross the l ake. Someone 

in the party made arrangements for passage on t he onl y 

boat available, a small , ooal burning, work boat. Si tting 

craJUped in the small boat , " sweat i ng in the noon-day sun , 

he had the nerve to hold my hand, and I had the nerve t o 

lat him. n5 Word soon got around that they were making 

wedding plans. When Van I a ship had made a tri p up the east 

coast he visited Johnstown to ask Mr. and Mrs. Thackr ay 

for Margaret• s hand in marriage. Mr. Thackray and Van hi t 

it off immediately, and Mr. Thackray gave his approval of 

the marriage. The wedding was to be held as soon as every-

thing could be arranged. 

4october 30, 1914 entry in Diary, loo. oit. 

5rnterv1ev with Mrs. P. v. B. Weems, April 16, 1973, 
Ibid. 
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Margaret returned to Pennsylvania on a convales cent 

leave arter an attack of appendicitis in the summer of 1
91

5. 

She had been gone only a few weeks when Van was suddenly 

reassigned from Panama to Po rtsmouth, New Hampshire. He 

requested Margaret to meet him in New York when t he shi p 

docked there enroute to Portsmout h. Mr . Thackray, a man 

of impulse, suggested t hat "they finish it off now" rather 

than have Margare t go back to Panama, plan the wedding , an d 

then return for the ceremony. 

They were married on August 31, 1915, at a quie t , 

private, church ceremony. Mr . Thackray gave a recept i on 

for the couple a t the Astor Hotel for family fri ends and 

the members of Van' s c r ew. Margaret and her maid of honor , 

a cousin, had been occupying a suite where Van and Margaret 

planned to stay on t he i r "honeymoon." After the recep tion , 

Van went down to the de sk and said, "I would like to change 

a name on the hotel regi stry. " The desk clerk looked ve ry 

indignant and announce d, "'lll.at has never been done at the 

Astor_ it cannot be done." Van announced with pride, "I 

have just done it."6 

After a brief honeymoon i n New York, t he newlyweds 

duty Station and se t up housekeeping in moved to their new 

6rnterview with Mrs. P. v. H. Weems on April 17, 1973 
at Annapolis, Maryland. 
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a large, but comf'ortable home. 

• • • There is room for at 1 t 
Everything is big except fore~~ three familie s. 
is six dollars a week encludingear~ni1and that 
for the use of linen and the orcha ~ ar a week 
strikes me that just any girl woul~ • t • • it 
alone in a strange house Thi no care to stay 
ways is where Ma~aret •it sand dozen7s of other 

•o su s me so well. 

They were not able to take leave and visit Tennessee until 

the Christmas holidays. The trip was a revelation for 

Margaret. They rode a train t o Cumbe rland Furnace, Tennes­

see, then hired a wagon and a team of mules for the six 

mile trip to the farm. 

The trips about the country side to sea the "site of 

future pikes" in springless wagons added to Margaret rs 

dislike of the "wild country in Tennessee." 

Van's wife was Miss Margaret Thaokray of Pennsylvania, 
and she had enough northern thrift, ambition, and 
alertness of mind, as well as cul tural knowledge, to 
be somewhat disgus ted with the crudeness and thrift­
leasness of our Barton' s Creek Connnunity. I feel, 
however, that she may be somewhat intolerant in this 
respect, for out of this crudeness and lack of alert­
ness has come a considerable amoun t of brains and 
ambition and qualities of which perhaps her own 
husband and children are exemplars.8 

Margaret was three months pregnant with their first 

child, but "it was not fashion able at the time to announce 

to the world" her condition. On July 21, 1916, Philip Van 

?Letter from p v H Weems to Judge Joe B. Weems , 
dated October 14, 1915; T;nnessae State Library, Ibid. 

8unpublished autobiography of Andrew Gennett, P• 41, 
Ibid. 
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Horn, Jr., was born. When he was about four years old, he 

gave his baby sister, Margaret Thackray II, born on January 

27, 1919, a nickname that stayed with her all of he r life . 

Philip was trying to peer over the side of the baby carriage 

to see ''his little Missy." The youngest son, George 

Thackray, born on January 5, 1921, nicknamed himself. His 

mother was talking to the baby trying to get him to pro­

nounce some words, "Where is the baby?" The baby answered, 

''Bee. 11 

Van was a ''home lover" and e n joyed being around his 

growing family. Margaret believed in staying home wi th the 

children and sharing with them t he joys of youth. Bo t h 

parents believed in keeping the family together. They t ook 

their children to chapel se rvices and encouraged their 

belief in "Christian a t hics. " As Van was shifted from 

assignment to assignmen t or to por t after port , the family 

moved to the nearest town to e stablish their home. From 

marriage to retirement, they moved about f orty times. 

As the children grew older, they joi ned their parents 

in physical exercise that both parents enjoyed. 

Ibid. 

De b 11 1932 - Licked Philip Jr. at t ennis, 
th~~=b;rgetting revenge for a previous trimming f r om 

him. ( wi · ng ) 
21 19.34 _ Philip beat roe in a race s nmu January , 

for [sic] lat time? 
T nnis with Margaret and the boys. 

January 8, 119383 6- eHe and I about tied Bee and MTW 
I beat Philp - • 
in doubles.9 

"1933 Dia~ " Tanna ssee State IJ.br ary, 9p. v. H. Weems AJ, 
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Van was very proud of his children, and it ''hurt" him whe n 

he had to discipline them. 

February 3, 1933 - Bee has been promoted a full 
grade, makes high records in intelligence tests 
and is good looking. Missy won second prize of two 
dollars for a heading in the Coronado Journal. 
Philip is doing fairly wall --guess we have some 
nunusual" children. 
January 26, 1934 - Bee and Philip scrapping, Missy 
forbidden to go out on general principles for previous 
disobediences - went out for one hour anyway & I 
punished her with ten light lashes with a white cotton 
belt. She didn't cry. Hated to do it.10 

Philip entered the Naval Academy in 1936. He did not 

do as well as the family had hoped. 

Philip has got a provisional turn-back, and if he 
keeps his nose clean and works hard till June, he 
will be o.K. \-bile I hate to see him lose the year, 
I lmow it will be for the best. Philip has been 
rather slow to develop mentally and to take 
responsibility of his age, but I hope now he is 
squared away. 11 

Philip "bilged" out of the Academy and attended the Univer-

sity of Virginia, majoring in Journalism. He entered the 

Officer's Training School at QUantico, Virginia, in AuguS t ' 

1941. Following graduation, he went into the Marines and 

later World War II. 

This 
ment 
Horn 

f WEEMSANA calls for its first sad announce-
=~~~eodeath in line of duty of Majort~~;~lfi~ 
W J USMC somewhere in the Sou eems r., , 

10 "1933 and 19.34 Diaries," Tennessee 
P. v. H. Weemshi, . Manuscript Division. 

State Library and Arc ves, 

V H Weems to Brig. Gen. o. H. Weems, 
llLetter from P. • • Lib ....v Ibid 

Tennessee state ra.J, • 
dated March 29, 1936, 



Phil, as he was known to al.l of us, was promot ed t o 
Major on the day of his death, and at t he time 
was Commanding Officer of an Anti-tank Battery of 
Artillery of the 9th Mar ine s . Not much is known 
concerning the details of Phil' s death. Following 
is a quotation from Uncle Van' s letter of July 28 
1943: "On my return from a two -months' voyage t o' 
North Africa, I learn of Phili p' s death about a 
month ago with his mechanized outfit in the South 
Pacific. I don't know much of the details, but I 
think his death was largely an accident involving 
the motorized equipment in which he was moving. 

11 2 

Thus it happens that my oldest boy is the first one 
of the next gene r ation t o go in this big conflict. 
I remember sayi ng when it started that according to 
the law of chance we would have to lose probably t wo 
or three of our g r oup by death and perhaps three or 
four wounde d bef ore this is over. As tough as i t is 
for Margaret and me and all of us, I feel we are 
merely one of millions who will suffer the saxne 
sorrow on the se occasions."12 

Be e ente red the Naval Academy in 1938 and e stabli shed 

an outstanding r ecord as a midshipman. "He was the f ive­

striper in the u. s. Naval Academy Class of 1942, which in 

tho s e days mea nt the top midshipman officer in the class. 
1113 

He was, also, a va rsity lacrosse player, and, following in 

Of h i s f a ther, the Eastern Intercollegiate 
the foo t step s 

Wrestling ChallIPion i n 194.J. . "The only man who has ever 

his f a the r . 14 Senior off icers 
subdued Bee in wre s tling is 

43 V l wne I, Number 4, P• 1. 
12weemsana__, October 1, 19 ' o 

N al In s t itute Pro-
13nsolomons Battle Log" u. s . av 

ceedings, August, 1962, P• 81. 

i W ms II December 29 , 
14o11ver 

1941, P• 54. 
Life "Ens gn ee , 

Jensen, -=---~ 
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at the Academy said, 'tile has the poise of an admiral and 

the kid I s only twenty. 1115 

Bee's class graduated six months early. He went 

directly into the war aboard t he de stroyer McCalla. He 

r ece ived the Silver Star f or a t tempting to save a sinking 

de s troyer in the Bat t le of Solomon Islands off Cape 

Esperance. He rece ived pilot training and se rved l ater in 

the war aboard t he carr ie r Intrepid, receiving the Di s­

tinguished Flying Cross with gold s t ars and the Air Medal 

wi t h four gold s tars . After t he war, he served as navi­

gat or, an aide t o Re ar Admiral William Keen Harrill, and 

as a te at p i l ot . 

Bee "engage d in the flight t e s t ing of all types of 

aircraft - f rom helicopters and gl iders to 600-mile-an­

hour j ets.nl6 On Januar y 16, 19.51 , he was testing a new 

type of pontoons on a s i ngle e ngine Stinson airpl ane on 

the Delaware River ne ar New Castle , Delaware . During a 

p ractice takeoff • "a high wave on the ri var s t ruck t he 

t i k ul 7 Stinson, killi ng the engine a nd causing the plane O s n • 

The death of their sole su r vi vi ng son was a severe 

blow to Captain and Mrs. Weems . '!hey had "accepted" the 

15Ibid. 

l~di torial, New Yo r k Herald Tribune, January 20, 1951. 

y k Herald Tribune, January 
l 7Fe a ture arti ole , ~N~e~wu~o~r~.!!:=.~~~:.:::.,;;;;---

20, 1951. 
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death of Philip because it happened i n time of war. 
Bee 

had flown around the world several time s and 
successfull y 

tested the latest high speed air craf t. The family knew 

that there was a danger of the high pe rformance exploding 

in flight. But t he deat h of the ir son in a small single­

eng ine plane by drowning coul d not be explained or easily 

accepted. 

The board on geographical names announced that seventy­

s eve n new n8l7les have bean chosen for the features of t he 

Ellswo rth Mountain Range in Antarctica. The names are of 

people who h ave i n some way contributed in the fields of 

s cie nce, e .xploration , aviation, or were support pe r sonnel . 

By t he suggestion of Admiral R. E. Byrd, one of the mounts 

i n t h e r a nge was named Mount Weems , for Captain P. v. H. 

Weems and his l a te sons. Admiral Byrd wanted a mount 

name d in the memo ry of Captain Weems' sons who died in the 

milita ry service . However, this could not be done because 

the y we r e no t affil iated wi th work in that area. Since 

Captain Weems had s ent Admiral Byrd original tables, a 

h d On bis antarctic expe-watch, and o t her data which e u se 

could be used f or the Weems ditions, the name Mount Weems 

family itself, thus including Capt ain Weems ' sons . Mount 18 

770 271 5 Longitude 86° 10 ' W. Weems is located at Latitude , 

V H Weems Collect ion, Tennessee 
18undated paper in P.al;o The National Geographic 

State Libraryf Ibid. Se~ dated February, 1963. 
Magazine map 'Antarctica 
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Missy continued with the art work that she enjoyed as 

a teenager. She is now an accomplished artist. After a 

11one-artist 11 art show by Missy, a critic said, "a most 

mature show by a painter with a most immature name. 11 Missy 

was the only child of Captain and Mrs. Weems t o ma r ry . Sh e 

and her husband, Charlie Dodds, 19 warme d her parents 1 

hearts with three grandchildren. The grandchildren were 

named 'Ihackray Weems Dodds, Philip Van Hor n Weems Dodds, 

and Nathaniel Chapman Weems Dodds . 

Dodds, Retired, Annapolis 
19captain Charles Robbins 

Class or 1937• 



SPACE 

When the Russians placed their sputnik 
in orbit in 

October, 1957, Captain Weems began to study the problem 

of navigation in outer space. He k th 
new at the space 

navigator's task would be to establish his "three dimen-

sion space" poai tion for any desired · instant of time and 

to control the spacecraft so that it would follow the 

desired orbital path. Captain Weems followed his normal 

pattern of work when he started a new project: research 

the subject, develop a theory, test the theory, wri te the 

conclusions to ge t people interested in the solution, and 

finally develop the instrumentation needed. 

During the research, he learned that reducing the 

weight of navigation equipment by one pound would allow 

the thrust at launch to be reduced one thousand pounds. 

With this in mind, he worked toward a space navigation 

system that would be lightweight and simple to use. The 

instrumentation of his solution to the space navigation 

problem was a couple of lightweight transparent plastic 

spheres. one sphere was about the size of half a basketball. 

When the space navigator would "peer through the sphere at 

the earth, he would aee the planet against a backdrop of 



navigational stars. Two i 1 
117 

s mp e maneuvers of the plastic 
(bowl) and he can read off his position. 111 

Captain Weems applied for a patent on his "Method for 
Space Navigation." On Oct b 3 196 

o er , 1, he was issued 
patent number 3002278. NASA was receiving all of t he sup-

port that it could use about this time in an effort to 

catch Russia in the "race for space." The Navy had 

t raditionally been the active service in the science of 

navigation, starting with marine navigation, the develop­

ment of charts , compasses, chronometers, sextants, and 

radios. Both the Navy and the Air Force had worked on air 

navigation. In apace navigation the Navy suddenly realized 

that it was left II in the starting blocks" while the Air 

Force, through NASA, was charging down the track. 

Because of Captain Weems• patent on space navigation, 

which is believed to be the first space navigation patent, 

the Chief ot Naval Personnel contacted Captai n Weems about 

"conducting a class on space navigation." In a letter, 2 

written by the Chief ot Naval Personnel concerning the 

class, the statement is made that "This oould well be an 

Navy to take the lead in this field . " opportunity tor the 

1 i ted Press Writer, printed Herbert Thompson, Asso~ ~e or the name of a newspaper 
newspaper article withcoultlactfon Tennessee State Library in the P. V. H. Weems O e ' 
and Archives, Manuscript Division. 

2Space Navigation Handbook, NAVPERS 92988, P• 118. 
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In answer to the request, c ti 
ap an Weems suggested that 

he be called to active duty or given a fla t fee.3 
Thus , on 

January 23, 1961, orders W8I'e issued 
calling Captain Weems 

to active duty for a period of six mont h s . Captain Weems 

lacked two months being sevent y-two years of age . He was , 

without doubt, the oldest Uni t ed Stat e s Naval officer ever 

called to active dut y. 

Captain Weems was given an offi ce at the Academy and 

assigned four NROTC Ensigns r eported to be "at or near 

genius level." The f our Ensigns assigne d were : Gene M. 

CUnni ngham, Paul D. Bowman, Rod L. Mayer, and George D. 

Zal.ly. Cunningham and Zally had degrees in Physi cs, Mayer 

in Mathematics , and Bowman in Elect rical Engineering . 

Classes or discussion sess ions were conducted like a semi­

nar with each stude nt encouraged to specialize i n one phase 

of the space naviga t ion p r oblem. The end resul t of the 

class was that the Navy extended Captain Weems on ac t ive 

duty for six additi onal months t o compil e the data assembled 

into a book. The book was written as a textbook for a broad 

introductory course in spatial navigat ion presented at t he 

graduate level. 

Before and after his year of ac t ive dut y in 1961, 

" i tional" consultan t to pri vate Captain Weems acted as a nav ga 

3Ibid., P• 119. 
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industry, the Navy, and the u. s. Government . 
In 1963, he 

served on the Carroll Committee 9 ~ic•h 
wu was convened to study 

the governmental-industrial conniots on aeronautical 

charting. Aa the "grand old man of navigation, 11 his 

opinions were requested and carefully considered. As a 

consultant, Mammy would "tell it as he sees i t , 11 and no t 

merely say what the listener wanted t o hear . 

While on active duty in 1961, t he Navy issued a 

physical fitness test for officers over forty years of age 

assigned to staff positions. Mammy believed that he could 

pass the test at the age of seventy-two. While t aki ng the 

test, he hurt his knee a t t emp t ing to broad jump the 

required distance. The only sport that he could par ti ci­

pate in with proficiency after his injury was wate r polo 

and skin diving. 

When you stop to think about it , 
perfect sport for a man my age. 
football they'd tear me up. But 
slow motion when contact ia made 
You don't really get hurt.4 

wate r polo is a 
If I were t o play 
e veryt hing is 
in the water. 

S d afternoons had bean t he When Van was in Annapolis, un ay 

time that he would meet his old classmates and friends at 

a "friendly" gam.e of water polo. If the Academy pool for 

requested to join the gaIDe, they were the young midshipmen 

invited to do so at their own risk. 

(Annapolis), July 26, 
4Hal Burdett, Evening Capital 

1969, P• 3. 
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Manmty Weems is norma:i.1y not referred to as an "old 
Salt. " H h b 

owever, e could e correctly called that because 

he held an Unlimited Oceana Captain's License and a Chier 

Engineer's License, An author ity in marine navigation5 

stated that ''he has never heard or anyone other than 

Captain Weems that held both licenses . " 

The honors that Captain Weems received over the year s 

are too numerous to list. Three t hat were pr esente d to him 

in later years in ascending order of personal value to Mrs. 

P. v. H. Weems are: The Institu te of Navi gation Special 

Gold Medal.; The La Goree Medal p r e sented by the National 

Geographic Society; and the Magellani c Pr emium Award. 

The citation fo r the Institute of Navigation Special 

Gold Medal awar d p re sented to Captain Philip Van Horn 

Weems in 1962 r eads i n part: 

Ibid. 

The name of Philip Van Horn Weems has been synonymous 
with navigat ion t hroughout the ~m~ryt~i ~r;rt~: 
all of those now a~;;;~~rv:n~:~hin:s an~ generou~ 
endeavor. • • His d n t ol d number of outstanding 
counsel have starte an ~ourse along the track of 
navigators on the right Hi f orward thinking has 
successful careers. • • ~th ;he t imes • • • Philip 
consistently kept P~~"'-becOllle a legendary figure as 
van Horn Weems has tio~ of navigati on. After fifty 
the very personifica ervice to the science of 
years of distinguished s f d with energy, pa t i ence 
navigation, he stiilhl f~esin~~~te of Navigation i s and a devotion wh c 8 6 
privileged to recognize. 

5 . G. D. Dunlap, Ibid. Interview wi th 

6P. Collection, Tennessee v. H. Weems state Library, 
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The La Goree Medal was awarded t o Captain P. v. H. 

Weems on December 11, 1968, in Washingt on , D. c., by Chief 

Justice Earl Warren. The award was made for Cap t ai n Weems , 

contributions to science and exploration through pioneering 

achievements in marine, air, and apace navigat ion. The 

La Goree Medal had been given only once befo r e, in 1967 , 

to the American Antarc t i c Mountaineering Expedition f or 

its successful assaul t on Ant arctica 's highest mountains . 

The American Philosophical Socie ty awarded t he 

Magellanic Pri ze to Captain Weems fo r his contribution to 

the art of navigation by t he development of quicker and 

simpler me t hods suitable for use i n t he air. "In addi tion 

he has for twenty years promoted hi s methods by teaching 

and wri ting, with the r esult that hi s system and devices 

i ld wid This i s the best evidence of are now n wor - e use . 

i t · of hi s basic idea. n7 This present useful appl oa i on 

F ankli The medal awarded 
society was o rga nized by Ben r n. 

to Captain Weems had bean given only twen t y t imes since 

1786. 
Van is a strong believer i n man's ability t o think. 

tar of them all 
"the human brain i s the best compu 

He says, 
11 van believes that all 

and the eye is the best scanne r. 
voung navigators and pilots do things 

too frequently our J 

state Library 
7p V H Weems Collection, Tennessee 

hi
•• •u-.-,script Division. 

and Arc ves, ~-
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today with their automatic equipment 'When they do not under­

stand what is rea1lv going on. If th ha ., ey d to navigate 

without these devices, they would be lost. 

In his diary on September 4, 1963, Captain Weems 

listed several things he wanted to discuss with his twelve 

year old grandson. This checklist provides a good summary 

of his thinking at age seventy-four, and how, according 

to him, a young person should orient his life . 

Economics - start at grass roots , know how much things 

Exercise 
Diet 
Habits 

coat 
- regular exerci se builds a.nd tones the body 
- eat good foo d 
- establish them and make actions semi-

automatic, personal habits innuence 
efficiency 

- avoid coffee, tobacco, and alcohol til 21 
- make a decision on church affiliation Church 

P. v. H. - Use me and my experience to learn what 

Mental 

Dress 

not t o do 
- develop mental capacity, when completely 

rested let brain go to work - night or 
day. Try to understand the brain. 

- people are influenced by personal 
appearance and d§6ss and it is easier to 
infiuence people 

the advice that Captain Weems continues 
Add to this list 

men who have new ideas on how to do things 
to give to young 

better. If you have an idea, stick with it. Don't be 

1 d Do not give 
discouraged when 1 t fails to work as P anne • 

s Stick­b your superiors or peer• 
up if you are criticized Y 

that is the key to success. 
with-it, 

6 Diary." This is not a direc t 
Bp. v. H. Weems, "19 3 difficul.t to read and some words 

quote· the handwriting was State Library and Archives, 
have been added. Tennessee 
Manuscript Division. 
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Captain Weems has led a full and productive life. He 

has been active in al.l four fi 1 · eds of navigation: sea, 

air, space and inner space. The four underwater explora­

tions with Mr. Ed Link are the inner space navigational 

eJtplorations referred to by the Captain. 

Captain Weems is proud of his Tennessee f arm heritage, 

and even prouder of the fact that he made the most of t he 

opportu.ni tie a that life allowed him. He calls h i mself 

"lucky" when speaking of his achie vements. Those close 

to Captain Weems cred.1 t his success to hi s refusal to give 

up, and not to lady luck. 

This paper has been an attempt ve r bally to toast 

Captain Weems for a life time of service and thoughtfulness 

to his fellowman. Therefore, it would be fitting and 

proper to conclude t hi s paper with a group of words 

arranged in a toast to depict Captain Weems ' full life, 

with its tragedies and its achie vements . After numerous 

attempts, it becaxne obvious that the results could not 

equal a toast Captain Weems composed for his Annapolis 

Class. 
Lift up your glasses high 
Each sparkling to the brim, 
And while we toast our dear old class, 
Let every eye glow dim. 
Though many days have passed 
And dark clouds hide the blue' 
To you Dear Class of 1912 
We are always true. 9 

ki from Carvel Ha11, A.nnapo-
9written on a dinner nap 1ao11ection, Tennessee Stat e 

lis, Maryland. P. V. H. Weems 
Library, Ibid. 
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By changing on1y two words--class and 1912--we can 11ft our 

glasses or gratitude and say: 

Lift up your glasses high 
Each sparkling to the brim, 
And while we toast our dear old man, 
Let every eye glow dim. 
Though many days have passed 
And dark clouds hide the blue, 
To you Dear ole Van 
We are al.ways true. 



BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Books 

Douglas, Byrd. Steamboatin• On the Cumberland. 
Tennessee Book Company, 1961. -- Nashville : 

Folmsbee, Stanley L., Robert E. Corlew and Enoch L 
Mitchell. His t orfu: of Tennessee. New York : Le~s 
Historical Publis ng Company, 1960 . 

Link, Marion Clayt on. Sea Diver. {reprint) Coral Gables: 
University of Miami Pr ess, 1964. 

Martindell, Jackson (publisher). Who 1 a Who i n America. 
Chi cago: Mar quis Publishing Company, 1964-65. -

McWhirter, Norris and Rosa . Guineas Book of World Records . 
New York: Bantam Books, 1973. 

Taylor , J ame s P., Alf A. Taylor, and Hugh L. Taylor. 
Life and Caree r of Senator Robert Love Taylor. 
Nashville: The Bob Tayl or Publishing Company, 1913. 

Uni t ed States Naval Academy Yearbook. Luckybag. Annapol i s , 
1912 . 

Waller, Wi lliam . Nashville in the 1890 1 a. Nashville: 
Vanderbilt Pres s , 1970. 

M t Du Most Probable Position. Lawrence : Wright, on 
8 

ane. Kansas Press, 1972. The Unive rsity of 

Governmen t Documents 

th u •tad States Naval Academy. 
Annual Registe r of e nit Printing Office, 1911-1912 year . Washington: Govermnen 

ited States Navy Personnel Space Navigation Handbook . Un( Ca tain p v. H. Weems 
Publication Number 92988 . b~ e~nme nt Printing Office , and others). Washington. v 
1962. 



1 26 

Periodicals 

"Air Almanac Makes s . D. Debut , 11 San Diego 
January 23, 1933. - -- - Tribune , 

Baltim~~e Sun Editorial, August 20 , 1932 . 

Burdett, Hal. Evening Capital {Annapoli s ), July 26, 1969 , 
p. 3. 

Davis, Louise. Nashville Te_nnessean, May 29 , 1966, p . 16. 

Harvey, Mrs. Allen C., "Joseph Burch Weems was one of 
Founders of Ryes Chapel Congregation in 1876 , " 
Weemsana, XIV 1, July 1968, p. 9 . 

Huddleston, Ed, Nashvil~e Banne ~, December 11, 1965. 

Jensen, Oliver, "Ensign Weems , " Life , December 29 , 1941, 
p. 54. 

Kernan, Michael, Washington Post , December 12, 1968, p . Fl. 

Liberty, November 24, 1928, p. 31 . 

Life, May 9, 1955, P• 126. 

Nashville Tennes sean Edi t or i al , November 10 , 19J6. 

Nashville Tennessean, May 24, 1940, P • 2 . 

Nashville Tennessean, April 30, 1950. 

New York Harald Tribune, Editorial and feature story, 
- - January 20, 1951 . 

Press Scimitar (New York), May ll, 1928• - -- - -
San Francisco EXSJI1iner, September 3, 1939. 

Shipmate, July - August, 1971. 

" United State s Naval Ins titu te Pro-"Solomons Battle Log, 6
2 

81 
ceedings, August, 19 , P• • 

t N ) December 4, 19J0. Timas-Herald (New Por ews ' 

Trevor, George, Baltimore Sun, March 28, 1927. 



127 
Weems, Captain p v H "W 

W • • •, eems Recall E alnut Grove School " Cl k il s arl y Days at 
January 29, 1967 p ' 3- Aa r sv_ le Lea.f'-Chronicle , . . - ·- =-' 

Weems, . Captain P • V • H •, "The Fli ht 
Aviation, Ap ril, 1 934 . g of the Tingxnismartoq, 11 

Weems ana (Weems Family a nd Educat · 
Places of Publi cation· Fort ~n Fund Newspaper ) , 
Waverly, I , l J anuary ·l 1943· ~ve4nwo rth , Dickson and 
II, 3 July 1 1944 · II ' 4 0 t 'b, October 1, 1943 ; 
Februa 1 6 '195 ' ' c O er 1 , 1941+· V 1 

ry ' 9 ; X, 1 June 1964; XII Ju~e i 966 . 

Othe r Sources 

I nterviews conducte d by the author: 
Dunlap , Mr . G._ D., April 16, 1973, Annapolis , Maryland. 
Li nehan, Captain Joseph, April 9, 1973, Clarksville 

Te nnessee . ' 
Slayden , Colonel Wi lliam, December 13, 1972, Wave rly, 

Te nnes see. 
Slayden, Mrs . Vi oletta, December 13, 1972, Waverly, 

Tennessee. 
Weems , Mr. Chapman, March 31, 1973, Clarksville, Tennes ­

see . 
We ems, Mis s Minna , March 31, 1973, Clarksville, Tennes­

see . 
We ems , Mrs . P. V. H. , April 16 & 17, 1973, Annapolis, 

Maryland. 

In t erviews conducted by Mr . John T. Mason, Jr., for the 
Uni t e d States Naval Insti t u te . 
Weems, Captain P. V. H., March 25, 1969, April 1, 1969 , 
Apri l 1 7, 1969, Randall House , Annapolis, Maryland. 

Interviews conduc t e d by Mr . G.D. Dunlap for the United 
Stat e s Naval I nsti t ute . 
Weems, Captai n P. V. H. , April 25, 1969, May 6, 1969, 
May 19, 1969, Septembe r 5, 1969, Randall House , 
Annapolis, Maryland. 

Unpublished Wo r ks 

i II Bake r Leslie w.' "History of Weems Syste~ of N?-viga4t 6 on, 
u~dated but estimated to have been wr it ten in 19 • 



128 

Gennett, Andrew, "Autobiography, 11 Duke University Library, 
Microfilm Division, undated. 

Lavender, Captain Robert A., Letter to author with eight 
pages of handwritten comments on Captain P. v. H. Weems . 

Weems, Captain P. v. H., Papers at Tennessee State Library 
and Archives, Manuscript Division, (Donated in 1965, 
the collection consists of approximately 1 5,000 i tems, 
Library of Congress Catalogue Card No. MS 69 -1902} . 



\ 

\ ' ' ' . 

\ 

129 

THE WEEMS SYSTEM OF 
NAVIGATION was established in 
1928 and is based on the patents . 
copyrights, and developmenu of 
Lt.-Commander P . V. H . Weems. 
It has been expanded to cover the 
entire field of sea and air navigation. 
The outstanding contributions by 

\~L--1.1..&-f+-----"'tl Commander Weems include the Star 
Altitude Curves, the Line of Posi­
tion Book, the Second - Setting 
Watch , the Gold Medal T ex t Book 
Air Navigation , improve menu in 
the Bureau of Standards Type Air­
craft Sextant. the Design of the Air 
Almanac, numerous articles, etc. , etc. 
Those interested in n:ivigation will 
do well to adopt this modern sys­
tem. 
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fil 
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